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BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT 2011

VOLVO FINANCIAL SERVICES

INCREASED PROFITABILITY AND GROWTH
alt

By developing long-term relationships with cus- execution and speed to market. This approach terms of maturity interest rates and currencies

tomers and dealers VFS seeks to establish a has prepared VFS to capitalize on profitable
in accordance with Volvo Group policy. Forfur-number

one market position for the financing of growth opportunities with stable efficient and ther information see note 4.

Volvo Group products where we operate. scalable business platforms. The operating income for the year amounted

When customers choose a vehicle or equipment In the mature markets of North America and to SEK 942 M compared to SEK 167 M in the

supplier the offer of supplementary services is Europe VFS continues to improve operational previous year.
Return on shareholders equity

an important factor. Customers desire solutions leverage and optimize results with standard was 7.3% 0.4. The equity ratio at the end of the

that can enable them to work more efficiently technologies solutions and shared services. In year was 9.1% 9.0. The improvement inprofit-while
maximizing profitability and reliability. VFS developing markets such as China Russia and ability is driven mainly by lower credit provisions

creates value for Volvo Group customers by pro- Brazil VFS continues to make investments in and higher earning assets. During the year

viding solutions including financing leasing and prudent growth with a focus on strengthening credit provision expenses amounted to SEK

insurance. These services are of increasing impor- local operations and maintaining a disciplined 682 M 1438 while write-offs of SEK 804 M

tance to the Volvo Groups total offer. risk management structure. Downturn prepara- 1460 were recorded. The write-off ratio for

tion and readiness are always in focus for such 2011 was 0.93% 1.65. At the end of December

Portfolio improvements markets regardless of the current business envi- 31 2011 credit reserves were 1.33% 1.69% of

Although global economies and financial markets ronment. In India VFS serves the market with a the credit portfolio.

continued to be characterized by uncertainty and branded private label alliance in support of Volvo As a consequence of the strong volume

volatility during 2011 the VFS portfolio
showed Group unit sales. growth in Brazil VFS executed on its second

strong improvements in customer repayment large portfolio syndication in the second quarter

patterns as evidenced by continued reductions Customer finance operations of 2011. This transaction of approximately SEK

in customer delinquencies defaults and repos- Total new financing volume in 2011 amounted to 4 billion of the Brazilian credit portfolio
served

sessions. During this period VFS also success- SEK 44.8 billion 35.1. Adjusted for changes in as an important risk mitigation measure and

fully reduced inventories of repossessed units exchange rates new business volume increased successfully freed up capital for reinvestment in

as used truck and equipment demand increased. by 35% compared to 2010 as a result of increased the country. The transaction generated aposi-Reduced
credit losses have primarily contributed sales volumes of the Volvo Group products and tive impact on operating income of SEK 45 M.

to VFS increased profitability during the
year.

stable penetration levels. In total 49757 new

Volvo Group unit deliveries strengthened and Volvo vehicles and machines 34522 were

financing market shares remained stable during financed during the
year.

In the markets where

2011. As a result VFS returned to growth with a financing is offered the average penetration

disciplined approach to balancing new business rate was 25% 25.

development with risk and cost control. As of December 31 2011 the credit
portfolio

was SEK 95544 M 84550. During 2011 the

Market_developmeat credit portfolio increased by 13.8% decrease

VFS continues to strengthen and standardize its 4.4 adjusted for exchange-rate movements

operations- in.. vvays__that._increase___efficiency...._The.funding of_the_creditportfolio is matched in

Conducts operations
in customer and dealer financing. Position on world market

Volvo Financial Services operates exclusively tosup-Number
of employees port the sales and leasing of vehicles and machines

1323 which are produced by the other business areas

enhancing their competitiveness.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT 2011

FINANCIAL STRATEGY

BALANCING GOOD RETURNS AND
FINANCIAL STABILITY

s

t-

Volvos goal is a strong and stable The good demand for the Groups products Funding

financial position continued in 2011 and has contributed to the Volvo works actively
for a good balance between

A long-term competitive market position requires improvement of the Volvo Groups profitability
short and long-term loans as well as borrowing

availability
of

capital
to implement investments. and financial position.

The financial net debt in preparedness in the form of credit facilities to

The financial strategy ensures that the Industrial Operations declined during the year satisfy the Volvo Groups long-term financing

Groups capital is used in the best possible man- from 37.4% of shareholders equity to 25.2%. needs.

ner by
At the end of 2011 the Group had theequiva-

balancing shareholders expectations on favora- Volvo strives for strong stable lent of SEK 37.2 billion in cash and cashequiva-ble
returns with creditors demands for financial credit ratings lents and short-term investments. In addition

stability
The Volvo Group has continual meetings with the Group had SEK 33.4 billion in granted but

strong and stable credit ratings
the credit

rating agencies Moodys and Standard unutilized credit facilities.

diversified access to financing from the capital Poors SP to update them on the companys

markets development. These meetings contribute to the

margin in the balance sheet to cope with a credit
rating agencies ability to assess the

strong decline in the economy Groups future ability
to repay loans. A highlong-

financing at competitive conditions to customers. term credit
rating provides access to additional

sources of financing and lower borrowing costs.

The goal concerning capital
structure is defined In April 2011 SP changed Volvos creditrat-as

the financial net debt for the Industrial Opera- ing
from BBB-/Baa3 with stable outlook to

tions and it shall under normal circumstances be BBB/Baa2 with stable outlook. The change

below 40% of shareholders equity. was attributable to a change in Volvos credit

Volvo carefully monitors the trend of financial measurement.

key ratios to confirm that the financial position is Moodys rating
of Volvo is BBB/Baa2 with

in line with the Groups policy. The financial key stable outlook since July 24 2009.

ratios include order intake as well as operational

and financial development.

Credit rating at February 6 2012

Short-term Long-term

Moodys P-2 Baa2 stable

Standard Poors A2 BBB stable

DBRS Canada R-2 high
-

RI Japan a-i A-
positive
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

MANAGED RISK-TAKING

F. SE. E.1_ is tý i3 ll. c_i ýtiý.
1 j 31 .C ýt ý_ i.

Risk may be due to events in the world and can impact existing order books through cancella- Most of the regulatory challenges regarding

affect a given industry or market. Risk can be tions of previously placed orders. The cyclical products relate to reduced engine emissions.

specific to a single company.
At Volvo work is demand for the Groups products makes the The Volvo Group is a significant player in the

carried out daily to identify measure and man- financial result of the operations dependable on commercial vehicle industry and one of the

age risk
- in some cases the Group can influ- the Groups ability to react to changes in demand worlds largest producers of heavy-duty diesel

ence the likelihood that a risk-related event will in particular to the ability to adapt production lev- engines. The product development capacity

occur. In cases in which such events are beyond els and production and operating expenses. within the Volvo Group is well consolidated to be

the Groups control the Group strives to mini-
able to focus resources for research anddevel-mize

the consequences.
Intense competition opment to meet tougher emission regulations.

The risks to which the Volvo Group are exposed Continued consolidation in the industry is Future product regulations are well known and

are classified into three main categories expected to create fewer but stronger competi- the product development strategy is well tuned

External-related risks - such as the cycli-
tors. Our major competitors are Daimler Paccar to the introduction of new regulations.

cal nature of the commercial vehicles busi- Navistar MAN Scania Caterpillar Komatsu

ness intense competition changes in prices Cummins and Brunswick. In recent years new Financial risk

for commercial vehicles and government reg- competitors have emerged in Asia particularly
In its operations the Volvo Group is exposed to

ulations
in China. These new competitors are mainly various types of financial risks. Group-wide policies

Financial risks - such as currency fluctua-
active in their domestic markets but are which are updated and decided upon annually

tions interest levels fluctuations valuations of
expected to increase their presence in other form the basis of each Group companysmanage-shares

or similar instruments credit risk and parts of the world. ment of these risks. The objectives of the

Groups policies
for management of financial

liquidity
risk.

Prices may change
risks are to optimize the Groups capital costs by

Operational risks - such as market recep-
The prices of commercial vehicles have at utilizing

economies of scale to minimize negative

tion of new products reliance on suppliers

protection

times changed considerably in certain markets effects on income as a result of changes in

and maintenance of intangible
over a short period. This instability is caused by currency or interest rates to optimize risk exposure

assets complaints and legal
actions by cus

several factors such as short-term variations in and to clarify areas of responsibility. Monitoring

tourers and other third parties and risk related

demand shortages of certain component prod- and control that established policies
are adhered

to human capital.
ucts uncertainty regarding underlying eco- to is continuously conducted. Information about

nomic conditions changes in import regulations key aspects of the Groups system for internal

External-related risk excess inventory and increased competition. controls and risk management in conjunction

The commercial vehicles industry is cyclical Overcapacity within the industry can occur if with the financial reporting is provided in the

The Volvo Groups markets undergoes signifi- there is a lack of demand potentially leading to Corporate Governance Report on page 150-159.

cant changes in demand as the general eco- increased price pressure.
Most of the Volvo Groups financial transactions

ýýftýýenýýatec Inv-estraents--in - areýaýiýd-eu-through Volvn_s in-hous_e_bank_
_

infrastructure major industrial projects mining Extensive government regulation
Volvo Treasury that conducts its operations

acrd housing--eonstf-uctior Ilimpact the-Groups -Regulations-regarding-exhaust- emission levels-i_
--within--established-_-risk..--maridate.s...anl_-limits.--operations

as its products are central to these
noise safety and levels of pollutants from pro- Credit risks are mainly managed by the different

sectors. Adverse changes in the economic con- duction plants are extensive within the industry.
business areas.

ditions for the Volvo Groups customers may also

Currencies
Interest rates in Sweden Europe and the U.S.

to Sweden

Europe

The U.S.

Source Reuters

Source Reuters

Government bonds 10 year
benchmarks
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The nature of the various financial risks and Reliance on suppliers knowledge and competence. Future development

objectives and the policies for the management Volvo purchases raw materials parts and com- depends on the companys ability
to maintain its

of these risks are described in detail in notes 4 ponents from numerous external suppliers. position as an attractive employer. To this end

and 30. Various aspects of financial risk are A
significant part of the Groups requirements the Volvo Group strives for a work environment in

described briefly in the following paragraphs. for raw materials and supplies is filled by single- which energy passion and respect for theindi-Volvos
accounting policies

for financial instru- source suppliers.
The effects of delivery inter- vidual are guiding principles. Every year aGroup-ments

are described in note 30. The overall impact ruptions vary depending on the item or compo- wide survey is conducted and according to the

on a companys competitiveness is also affected nent. Certain items and components are standard survey the share of satisfied employees has

however by how various macro-economic factors throughout the industry whereas others are been on a high level in recent years.

interact. internally developed and require unique tools

that are time-consuming to replace. Short-term risk factors

Interest-related risk The Volvo Groups costs for raw materials and An increase in demand could potentially result in

Interest-related risk includes risks that changes components can vary significantly over a busi- delivery disturbances due to suppliers financial

in interest rates will impact the Groups income ness cycle.
Cost variations may be caused by instability or shortage of resources.

and cash flow cash-flow risks or the fair value changes in world market prices for raw materials Uncertainty regarding customers access to

of financial assets and liabilities price risks. or by an inability of our suppliers to deliver. the financing of products in emerging markets

might have a negative impact on demand.

Currency-related risk Intangible assets Volvo verifies annually or more frequently if

More than 90% of the net sales of the Volvo AB Volvo owns or otherwise has rights to pat- necessary the goodwill value of its business

Group are generated in countries other than ents and brands that refer to the products the areas and other intangible assets for possible

Sweden. Changes in exchange rates have a Company manufactures and markets. These have impairment. The size of the overvalue differs

direct impact on the Volvo Groups operating been acquired over a number of years and are between the business areas and they are to a

income balance sheet and cash flow as well as valuable to the operations of the Volvo Group. varying degree sensitive to changes in thebusi-an
indirect impact on Volvos competitiveness Volvo does not consider that any of the Groups ness environment. Instability in the business

which over time affects the Groups earnings. operations are heavily dependent on any single recovery and volatility in interest and currency

patent or group of patents.
rates may lead to indications of impairment.

Credit-related risk Through Volvo Trademark Holding AB AB The reported amounts for contingentliabili-An
important part of the Groups credit risk is Volvo and Volvo Car Corporation jointly own the ties reflect a part of Volvos risk exposure see

related to how the financial assets of the Group Volvo brand. AB Volvo has the exclusive right
to note 24 for contingent liabilities

have been placed. The majority are placed in use the Volvo name and trademark for its

prod-interest-bearingbonds issued by Swedish real ucts and services. Similarly Volvo Car Corpora- Contractual conditions related to take

estate financing institutions. tion has the exclusive right
to use the Volvo name over bids

and trademark for its products and services. Some of AB Volvos long term loan agreements

Liquidity risk The Volvo Groups rights
to use the Renault contain conditions stipulating

the right for abond-Volvo
ensures its financial preparedness by brand are restricted to the truck operations only holder to request repayment in advance under

always maintaining a certain portion of revenues and are regulated by a license from Renault certain conditions following a change of thecon-in
liquid assets. s.a.s. which owns the Renault brand. trol of the company. In Volvos opinion it has been

necessary to accept those conditions in order to

Market risk from investments in shares or Complaints and legal actions receive financing on otherwise acceptable terms.

similar instruments The Volvo Group could be the target of com- Provisions stipulating that an agreement can be

The Volvo Group is indirectly exposed to market plaints
and legal actions initiated by customers changed or terminated if the control of thecom-risks

from shares and other similar instruments employees and other third parties alleging pany is change are also included in some of-Me

as a result of managed capital transferred to health environmental safety or business related agreements whereby Renault Trucks has been

lssan

independent pension plans being partly invested issues or failure to comply With applicable tegis given the rig
t to sel enau sas. and

f- R_

in instruments of these types.
lation and regulations.

Information about legal
Motor Co. Ltds light-duty

trucks as well as in

proceedings involving
entities within the Volvo some of the Groups purchasing agreements.

Operational risk Group are found in note 24 Contingent Liabilities.

The profitability depends on successful Even if such disputes are resolved successfully

new products
without having adverse financial consequences

The Volvo Groups long-term profitability depends they could negatively impact the Groups reputa- Further information

on the Companys ability
to successfully launch tion and take up resources that could be used Note 27 Personnel contains informationconcern-and

market its new products. Product life cycles for other purposes.

ing
rules on severance payments applicable for

the Group Executive Team and certain othersen-continue
to shorten putting increased focus on for executives.

the success of the Groups product development. Risk related to human capital
Note 4 and 30 contain information regarding

financial risks as well as goals and policies in

A decisive factor for the realization of the Volvo
financial risk management.

Groups vision is our employees and their Further risk information is provided in note 24.

70



CONTENT

FINANCIAL INFORMATION 2011

page Note The Volvo Group page Note Parent Company page

Financial performance 72 1 Accounting principles 81 1 Accounting principles 130

Financial position 76 2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty 83 2
Intra-Group transactions 130

Cash-flow statement 78 3 Acquisitions and divestments of shares 84 3 Administrative expenses
130

in subsidiaries

Changes in consolidated 80 4 Other operating income and 131

Shareholders equity

4 Goals and policies in financial risk 86
expenses

management

Notes to consolidated 81
5 Income from investments in Group 131

5 Shares and participations
91 companies

financial statements
6 Segment reporting

94 6 Income from investments in 131

Parent Company AB Volvo 126
7 Income 96

associated companies

Proposed remuneration 138
8 Other operating income and expenses 97

7 Income from other investments 131

policy 8 Interest income and expenses 131

9 Other financial income and expenses 97

Proposed disposition of 139 9 Other financial income and 131

unappropriated earnings
10 Income taxes 98

expenses

Audit report for AB Volvo 140
11

Minority
interests 99

10 Allocations 131

Eleven-year summary 141
12 Intangible assets 100

11 Income taxes 132

13 Tangible assets 102
12

Intangible and tangible assets 132

14 Leasing 104

13 Investments in shares and 133

15 Customer-financing receivables 105 participations

16 Receivables 106 14 Other current receivables 133

17 Inventories 107 15 Untaxed reserves 133

18 Marketable securities and liquid funds 108 16 Provisions for pensions 134

19 Shareholders equity
108 17 Other provisions

134

20 Provisions for post-employment 109 18 Non-current liabilities
134

benefits

19 Other current liabilities
134

21 Other provisions
113

20 Contingent liabilities 134

22 Liabilities 115

21 Cash-flow 134

23 Assets pledged 116

24 Contingent liabilities 116

25 Transactions with related parties
117

26 Government grants
118

27 Personnel 118

28 Fees to the auditors 121

29 Cash-flow 121

30 Financial instruments 122

71



FINANCIAL INFORMATION 2011

..................._..._.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

IMPROVED PROFITABILITY

INCOME STATEMENTS VOLVO GROUP

Industrial operations
Customer Finance Eliminations Volvo Group

Total

SEK M
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

Net sales Note 67 303589 257375 8883 9031 2104 1658 310367 264749

Cost of sales
231516 197480 5693 5974 2104 1658 235104 201797

Gross income 72073 59895 3190 3057 0 0 75263 62952

12970
Research and develo ment ex pen

Note 6 13276 12970 0 0 0 0 13276

Selling expenses
24383 22 649 1618 1500 0 0 26001

Administrative expenses
7105 5640 27 25 0 0 7132 5666

Other operating income and expenses Note 8 1045 659 603 1365 0 0 1649 2023

Income from investments in associated
0 0 0 0 81 86

companies
Note 56 82 86 --__.-----

Income from other investments Note 5 225 57 0 0 0 0 225

Operating income 25957 17834 942 167 0 0 26899 18000

Interest income and similar credits
644 544 0 0 37 102 608 442

_.__

Interest expenses and similar charges
2912 3244 0 0 37 102 2875 3142

297 1

Other financial income and expenses
Note 9 297 213 0 0 0 0

Income after financial items 23986 15347 942 167 0 0 24929 15514

Note 10 6490 4168 323 134 0 0 6814 4302

Income taxes

17496 11179 619 32 0 0 18115 11212
Income for the period

Attributable to
17751 10866

Equity holders of the parent company 364 346

Minority
interests

Note 11
y 18115 11212

8.76 5.36

Note 19
Basic earnings per share SEK

8.75 5.

Diluted earnings per
share SEK Note 19

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
2011 2010

SEK M
18115 11212

Income for the period
1

Translation differences on foreign operations

980 3891

-_.----anslatio-indifferences-on-hedge-tnstr-uments-enet rlvest- lent-n-forign-operations-
3-9

Accumulated translation difference reversed to income
30 95

39 14

Available-o sale-nv sir hats

Change in cash flow hedge reserve

Note 19 144 156

Other comprehensive income net of income taxes
1118 3881

116997 7331
Total comprehensive income for the period

9

Attributable to
16551 7 1

Equity holders of the Parent Company
446 315

Minority interests
16997 7331

1 Since 1999 when the Groups operation was directed towards commercial vehicles.
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The Volvo Group

Net sales Net financial items Income taxes

Net sales for the Volvo Group increased by 17% Net interest expense was SEK 2267 M com- The tax expense for the year amounted to SEK

to SEK 310367 M in 2011 compared with SEK pared with SEK 2700 M in the preceding year.
6814 M 4302 corresponding to a tax rate of

264749 M in the preceding year.
During the year market valuation of derivatives 27% 28.

mainly used for eliminating
interest exposure in

Operating income the customer financing portfolio had a positive
Income for the period and earnings per

Volvo Group operating income improved to SEK effect on Other financial income and expenses share

26899 M 18000. in an amount of SEK 544 M. During 2010 the The income for the period amounted to SEK

Operating income for the Industrial Opera- impact was positive
and amounted to SEK 871 M. 18115 M 11212 corresponding to diluted

tions increased to SEK 25957 M compared The currency in Venezuela was devalued earnings per share of SEK 8.75 5.36. The

with SEK 17834 M in the preceding year.
The twice during 2010 which negatively impacted

return on shareholders equity was 23.1% 16.0.

Customer Finance operations operating income Other financial income and expenses by SEK

rose to SEK 942 M 167. 274 M in 2010.

Net sales by business area SEK M 2011 2010 o/b operating income loss by business area SEK M 2011 2010

Trucks 200703 167305 20 Trucks 18260 10112

....

Construction Equipment
64987 53810 21 Construction Equipment

6653 6180

Buses 22289 20516 9 Buses
1036 780

781 578

Volvo Penta 8859 8716 2 Volvo Penta

286

Volvo Aero 6509 7708 16 Volvo Aero
336

Eliminations and other
242 680 Eliminations and other 1109 102

303589 257375 18 Industrial Operations 25957
Industrial Operations

25 957 17 83417834

Customer Finance 8883 9031 2 Customer Finance 942 167

Reclassifications and eliminations 2104 1658 Volvo Group 26899 18000

Volvo Group 310367 264749 17

1 Adjusted for acquired and divested units and changes in currency rates net sales Change in operating income SEK bn

increased by 20%.
Operating income 2010 18.0

Gross income
19.4

Operating margin % 2011 2010
Recognition of VAT credits in Brazil relating

to
previous years

0

Trucks
9.1 6.0 Disturbances in operations

in Japan as an effect of the

10.2 11.5 earthquake and tsunami

Construction Equipment

Buses
4.6 3.8

Result from divestments of companies in 2010 0.2

5

8.8 6.6 Changes in currency exchange rates Industrial operations

Volvo Penta

Volvo Aero
5.2 3.7

Write down of shares listed in Japan 2

._
Industrial Operations

8.6 6.9 Higher capitalization of development costs
1.0

8.7 6.8 Higher research and development expenditures
2.0

Volvo Group
Tax credit for research and development activities 0.3

Higher selling and administrative expenses
4.7

Lower credit losses
0.6

Other
0.4

Operating income 2011
26.9

Net sales SEK bn Operating income SEK M

2010 2011

07 08 09 10 11 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

285 304 218 265 310 2799 4770 4913 5518 6522 7648 5774 6955
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Industrial Operations

In 2011 net sales for the Volvo Groups Indus- preceding year.
The operating margin for the Selling expenses increased by 8% and

trial Operations increased by 18% to SEK Industrial Operations amounted to 8.6% 6.9. administration expenses by 26%.

303589 M 257375. The earnings improvement is the result of Since return on equity was 231% SEK 550 M

Compared with 2010 sales increased in all increased sales and improved cost coverage in was provisioned for profit-sharing
to employees.

of the Groups market areas. Sales increased the industrial system as an effect of increased

strongly in Eastern Europe and had a very pos- production levels. Impact of exchange rates on

itive development in North America South In 2011 research and development expenses operating income

America and Asia. In Western Europe demand amounted to SEK 13276 M 12970. The con- The combined effect of changed exchange

weakened towards the end of the
year.

tinued high cost level is primarily a conse- rates had a negative effect on operating income

quence of projects relating to new emission of approximately SEK 5.2 billion in 2011com-Considerable
earnings improvement regulations in Europe and South America and pared with 2010. This is mainly attributable to

In 2011 the operating income for the Volvo the development of products for the growth that the USD was weak during most of 2011.

Groups Industrial Operations amounted to SEK markets.

25957 M compared to SEK 17834 M in the

Income Statement industrial Operations SEK M 2011 2010 Net sales by market area SEK M 2011 2010 %

Net sales 303589 257375 Western Europe 97925 87241 12

Cost of sales
2315116 197480 Eastern Europe 20298 12570 61

Gross income 72073 59895 North America 58253 45409 28

Gross margin 070 23.7 23.3 South America 34013 27876 22

Asia 73017 65072 12

Research and development expenses
13 276 12970 _.

20083 19207 5
Other markets

Selling expenses
24 383 22649

Total Industrial Operations 303589 257375 18

Administrative expenses
7105 5640

......

Other operating
income and expenses 1045 659

Income from investments in associated companies 82 86

Income from other investments 225 57

Operating income loss Industrial Operations 25957 17834

Operating margin % 8.6 6.9

Impact of exchange rates on operating income Operating net flow per currency

Compared with preceding year
SEK M Local currency million

2011 2010

Net sales 20286 USD 3970 2410

Cost of sales
13.280 EUR 57 373

Research and development expenses
397 GBP

555 405

Selling
and administrative expenses

1.408 CAD 397
4

Total effect of changes in exchange rates JPY x100 218 103

on operating income 5.201

__ 1 Group__aaas_ar_e_repo
d at monthly spot rates and the effects of currency hedges

are reported among Cost of sales.

Research and development costs

Research and

development costs

SEK bn

Research and

development costs

% of net sales

07 08 09 10 11

11.1 14.3 13.2 13.0 13.3

3.9 4.9 6.3 5.0 4.4
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Customer Finance Operations

Total new financing volume in 2011 amounted adjusted for exchange-rate movements. The SEK 682 M 1438 while write-offs of SEK 804

to SEK 44.8 billion 35.1. Adjusted for changes funding of the credit portfolio is matched in M 1460 were recorded. The write-off ratio for

in exchange rates new business volume terms of maturity interest rates and currencies 2011 was 0.93% 1.65. At the end of December

increased by 35% compared to 2010 as a in accordance with Volvo Group policy. For fur- 31 2011 credit reserves were 1.33% 1.69%

result of increased sales volumes of the Volvo ther information see note 15. of the credit portfolio.

Group products and stable penetration levels. The operating income for the year amounted

In total 49757 new Volvo vehicles and to SEK 942 M compared to SEK 167 M in the

machines 34522 were financed during the previous year.
Return on shareholders equity

year. In the markets where financing is offered was 7.3% 0.4. The equity ratio at the end of

the average penetration rate was 25% 25. the year was 9.1% 9.0. The improvement in

As of December 31 2011 the credit portfolio profitability
is driven mainly by lower creditpro-wasSEK 95544 M 84550. During 2011 the visions and higher earning assets. During the

credit portfolio
increased by 13.8%decrease 4.4 year credit provision expenses amounted to

Income Statement Customer Finance SEK M 2011 2010 Key ratios Customer Finance 2011 2010

Finance and lease income 8883 9031
Credit portfolio net SEK bn 94.3 83.1

-__ .... 942 167

Finance and lease expenses 5693 5974 Operating income SEK M

Gross income 3190 3057 Return on shareholders equity
% 73 0.4

Total penetration rate % 24.8 24.5

Selling and administrative expenses 1645 1526
Penetration by business area

______-_ ......

Credit rovision ex enses 682 1438 -_.... __

P p._._
Volvo CE 35 35

Other operating income and expenses
78 73

27 39

Operating income loss 942 167
Volvo Trucks

19 17
Renualt Trucks

Income taxes 323 134 -
Mack Trucks 20 20

Income Loss for the period 619 32 15- Buses
11

Return on Equity
7.3 0.4 -

UD
---. -.._.._..

14
- -

12
Trucks

1 Share of unit sales financed by Volvo Financial Services in relation to the total

number units sold by the Volvo Group in markets where financial services are

offered.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION 2011

FINANCIAL POSITION

IMPROVED DURING THE YEAR

iit.. zs it iI.u.3.
i .

I
0

BALANCE SHEETS VOLVO GROUP

Industrial Operations
Customer Finance Eliminations Volvo Group

Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31

SEK M 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

Assets

Non-current assets

Intangible assets Note 12 39385 40613 122 101 39507 40714-Tangibleassets Note 13

Property plant
and equipment 53563 53221 94 72 - 53657 53294

Investment
property

883 948 - 883 948

Assets under operating leases 16749 13217 11525 10055 4352 3525 23922 19647

Financial assets

Shares and
participation

Note 5 1871 2080 3 18 1874 2098

Non-current customer-financing receivables Note 15 579 598 44651 36270 4612 843 40618 36025
- -

Deferred tax assets Note 10 12480 12019 358 291 - 12838 12310

Prepaid pensions Note 20 2263 1636 14 12 - 2217 71648
Non-current interest-bearin receivables

Note 16 757 941 204 63 379 694 766

Other non-current receivables Note 16 4500 3401 50 41 235 24 4315 3418

Total non-current assets 133030 128674 56817 47064 9262 4871 180585 170868

Current assets

Inventories Note 17 43828 38956 771 882 - 44 599 39837

Current receivables -

Customer-financin receivables Note 15 1123 830 38050 36897 1092 1064 38081081 36663

Tax assets 1152 1045 48 90 1200

-

s Note 16 1461 1071 226 1283 1020 2012 667

135

Interest-bear ýy rý

342
ceý ablý -22537505 - 2253 7505

------Internalfunding

Accounts receivable Note 16 27492 24332 207 101
- 27.699 24433

Other receivables Note 16 13438 11561 1411 1352 1024 1056 13825 11857

_-- ....

interest-bearing assets held for sale Note 3 9344 136 - - - - 9 344 136

Interest bearing assets held for sale Note 3 4 - -

Marketable securities
Note 18 6838 9735 24 32 - - 6862 9767

Cash and cash equivalents
Note 18 29113 21756 1593 1545 327 335 30379 22966

Total current assets 136046 116928 42330 42182 5717 11970 172659 147139

Total assets 269076 245602 99147 89246 14979 16841 353244 318007

Shareholders equity and liabilities Note 19

Equity
attributable to the equity holder of the

Parent Company
75582 65090 8999 80208.458.1--Minority

interests
1100 1011

- - - 1100 1011

Total shareholders equity 76682 66101 8999 8020 - - 85681 74121

T510
N n_..currenLprn

_is an c __.- - - - - - -....-

Provisions for post-employment benefits Note 20 6635 7478 30 32 6665

Provisions for deferred taxes Note 10 4171 3026 1465 1496 5636 4522

Other provisions
Note 2ii92 _ ýý5 t54 _1.54 2 5 64 _ 5

Non-current liabilities Note 22

Bond loans 38192 38767 38192 38767- -

Other loans 38848 37180 8974 8225 57 78 47765 4532

Internal funding
35453 26 971 33459 25927 1994 1044 -

-

Other liabilities
12902 11172 740 389 3195 2330 10447 9231

Current provisions
Note 21 9438 8429 92 105 1

1 9531 8534

Current liabilities Note 22

Loans 38644 32101 6741 8299 863 799 44522 39601

Internal funding 24837 21220 35373 33643 10536 12423

Non interest-bearing liabilities held for sale Note 3 4710 135 - - - - 4710 1

Interest-bearing liabilities held for sale Note 3 6 - - - - 6

Trade payables
56546 47111 242 139 - - 56788 47250

Tax liabilities 2220 1571 171 161
- - 2391 1732

Other liabilities 34880 34937 2707 2660 2325 2257 35262 35341

Total shareholders equity and liabilities 269076 245602 99147 89246 14979 16841 353244 318007

76

1 Internal funding is internal lending from Industrial Operations to Customer Finance.



The Volvo Groups cash cash equivalents and Net debt Industrial Operations SEK bn

marketable securities combined amounted to 2010 2011

SEK 37.2 billion at December 31 2011. Of this Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

SEK 9.3 billion are restricted for immediate use
45.0 39.9 38.4 24.7 273 28.3 29.6 19.3

by the Volvo Group compared to SEK 7.4 billion

a year earlier. In addition to this granted but not

utilized credit facilities amounted to SEK 33.4

billion.

Total assets in the Group amounted to SEK

353.2 billion on December 31 2011 an

increase of SEK 35.2 billion compared toyear-end
2010. The increase is mainly a result of Net financial position SEK M Industrial Operations

Volvo Group

increase in inventories and accounts receiva- Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31

2011 2010 2011 2010

bles increased customer financing receivables

Non current interest bearing assets

due to
portfolio growth in the Customer Finance

Non-current customer-financing receivables
- 40618 36025

Operations and increase in assets under oper

- _--- ._.. ..

Non-current interest bearing
receivables 757 941 694 766

ating lease mainly related to the construction
Current interest-bearing assets

- - 38081 36663equipment rental operation. Customer-financing receivables

The Groups intangible assets amounted to Interest-bearing receivables
1 461 1 071 667 342

SEK 39.5 billion on December 31 2011. Invest- Internal funding 2253 7505 - -

ments in research and development amounted
Interest bearing

assets held for sale 4 4 -

to SEK 4.2 billion in 2011 resulting in a net
Marketable securities

6838 9735 6862 9767

Cash and bank 29113 21 756 30379 22966

value of capitalized development costs of SEK
Total financial assets 40426 41008 117305 106529

11.5 billion at the end of the
year.

The Groups

total goodwill amounted to SEK 23.9 billion on

Non-current .nteres bearing liabilities

Bond loans 38192 38767 38192 38767

December 31 2011 an increase by SEK 1.0 bil

Other loans 38848 37180 47765 45327-lioncompared to year-end 2010 as a result of Internal funding 35453 26971

aquisitions in the construction equipment rental Current interest bearing
liabilities

operation.
Loans 38644 32101 44 522 39601

The tangible assets increased by SEK 4.6 bil

Internal funding
24 837 21 220

Interest-bearing liabilities held for sale 6 - 6 -

lion during 2011 mainly related to the expansion Total financial liabilities 55400 59857 130485 123695

in the construction equipment rental operation. Net financial position excl. post employment

The value of the inventories increased by
benefits 14974 18849 13180 17166

SEK 4.8 billion during 2011. The increase is
Provision for post employment benefits net 4372 5842 4388 5862

mainly related to finished products within the Net financial position incl. post employment

benefits 19346
operations and construction equipment.

9346 24691 17568 23028

The net value of assets and liabilities related

to pensions and similar obligations amounted to

SEK 4.4 billion on December 31 2011 a
Change in net financial position Industrial Operations SEKbn 2011 2010

decrease of SEK 1.5 billion compared to year- Beginning of period 24.7 41.5

end 2010. Post-employment benefits valued at Cash flow from operating
activities

26.9 28.8

SEK 17 7 hilljon were_ repo tad o_Utside the Investments in fixed assets to/from 14.0 10.6

Volvo Groups balance sheet. For further infor- Disposals
1.2.8

14.1 19

-mation-.see-Note_20_
Operating cash flow

At year-end the equity ratio in the Industrial Investments and divestments of shares 01 0.1

Operations was 28.5% and in the Volvo Group
Acquired and divested operations net 3.0 0.2

24.3%. Shareholders equity in the Volvo Group
Capital injections to/from Customer Finance Operations 0.1 0.5

Currency effect
19 1.6

amounted to SEK 85.7 billion at December 31
Payment to AB Volvo shareholders 5.1

2011. Dividend paid
to minority shareholders 0.0 0.1

Other
1.5 0.1

Total change
5.4 16.8

Net financial position at end of period 19.3 24.7

Read more about capital structure on page 6-7
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CASH-FLOW STATEMENT

STRONG OPERATING CASH-FLOW

CONSOLIDATED CASH-FLOW STATEMENTS

Industrial operations Customer Finance Eliminations Volvo Group Total

Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31

SEK M 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

Operating activities

Operating income loss 25957 17834 942 167 0 1 26899 18000

Depreciation tangible
assets Note 13 6109 6060 15 15 0 2 6124 6077

Amortization intangible assets Note 12 3227 3282 20 23 0 0 3247 3305

Depreciation leasing vehicles Note 13 208 1996 2537 2415 1 1 4621 4410

Other non-cash items Note 29 622 170 614 1 330 26 61 1 262 1561

Total change in working capital
whereof 4180 4576 13831 148 2926 77 15085

_

4801

Change in accounts receivable 3094 4049 101 316 0 0 3195 3733

Change m customer financing receivables 240 174 14202 1271 3007 98 11 435 1347
......

Change in inventories 7099 4769 155 847 0 1 7254 3921

Change in trade payables 9871 13057 107 46 0 0 9978 13011

__Other changes in working capital
3618 511 520 302 8I 22 3179

-

-____791___

Interest and similar items received 720 532 - - 42 103 678-_
429

Interest and similar items paid
3391 2768 - - 12 36 3379 2732

Other financial items 184 604 - 0 0 184 604

Income taxes paid
4129 2255 384 336 0 1 4513 2590

Cash flow from operating activities 26834 28823 10087 3762 2923 72 19670 32657

Investing activities

Investments in tangible assets 8267 6729 50 97 27 67 8290 6759

Investments in intangible
assets 4293 3557 20 18 0 0 4313.--- 3575

Investment in leasing
vehicles 1422 295 6044 4554 53 38 7413 4811

Disposals of fixed assets and leasing vehicles 1233 776 2099 2293 0 2 3332 3067

Operating cash flow 14085 19018 14102 1386 3003 175 2986 20579

Investments and divestments of shares net Note 529
119 106

1590 617

Acquired and divested operations net Note 329
3

Interest-bearing
receivables incl marketable securities

2665 681

Cash-flow after net investments
3942 27903

Financing activities _.

------257118734
Change in loans net Note 29 -_---

--
....

Dividend to AB Volvo shareholders ----
5 069

Dividend to minority
shareholders

2 75

Other
30 25

Change in cash and cash equivalents excl.

7575
differences

575 2092

Transiaterd fereace-sn-cash-and-cas ivalPntc -

162 360

Change in cash and cash equivalents
7413 1732

22966 234
- Cast and cash a uivalentsrBeginning..of year Lýlnte _lfl_.__

4- 30379
-

2296
Cash and cash equivalents End of year Note 18
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The cash flow within Industrial Operations was previous year the majority of the investments Acquisitions and divestments

positively affected by the operating income and refer to expansion of the excavator business for Acquired and divested operations 2011 had a

negatively affected by the increased working both Volvo brand and SDLG brand. During 2011 negative impact on cash flow of SEK 1.6 billion

capital. Accounts receivables and inventories mainly China and Korea have been impacted in positive 0.6.

increased with SEK 3.1 and 7.1 billion respec- capacity investments in machining and assem- Acquired operations refer mainly to several

tively partly offset by the increase of trade pay- bly area. Product related investments during minor acquisitions of assets and liabilities in

ables of SEK 9.9 billion. the year refer to the emission regulations in construction equipment rental operations. The

Financial items and paid income taxes had a Europe and North America and Tier 2 and Tier remaining minority interest in Volvo Aero Norge

SEK 6.9 billion negative effect on cash flow 3 requirements for new models in the BRIC and UD Trucks South Africa has also been

within Industrial Operations mainly through countries. acquired during the year.

payments of interests and income tax. The investments within Volvo Aero was during

Operating cash flow within Customer Finance 2011 SEK 0.5 billion 0.8. The majority of the Financing and dividend

was a negative SEK 14.1 billion pos SEK 1.4 investments refer to the involvement in the new Net borrowings increased cash and cashequiv-billion
mainly due to increased customer engine programs PW1100G and PW1000G alents by SEK 8.7 billion during 2011.

financing-receivables. with Pratt Whitney and Trent XWB with Rolls- During the year dividend of SEK 5.1 billion

Royce. The investments also refer to finalization corresponding to SEK 2.50 per share was paid

Investments of a number of investments in Volvo Aeros pro- to the shareholders of AB Volvo.

The Industrial Operations investments in fixed duction facilities in order to secure the capacity

assets and capitalized RD during 2011 required for the XWB and GP7000 program Change in cash and cash equivalents

amounted to SEK 12.6 billion 10.3. PW and rationalizations in the spool shop. The Groups cash and cash equivalents

Capital expenditures in Trucks amounted to The investments in Buses were SEK 0.3 billion increased by SEK 7.4 billion during the year and

SEK 8.4 billion 7.2. The capital expenditures 0.2 and in Volvo Penta SEK 0.2 billion 0.2. amounted to SEK 30.4 billion at December 31

within Trucks consist to a large extent of invest- Investments in leasing assets amounted to 2011.

ments related to product renewals in our product SEK 1.4 billion 0.3 the increase versus previ

program with product development activities ous year refers mainly to expansion of the rental
Refer Note 29 for principles for preparing

the cashh flow
tw

analysis.

and required adaptations in the plants. In the fleet as well as replacement of existing fleet.

plants there are also ongoing investments aim- For 2012 the Volvo Group estimates that

ing for increased capacity and flexibility mainly investments in property plant and equipment

in the cab plant in Umea Sweden and in the will be around SEK 10 billion. The investment

engine plants with machining and assembly level is however pending the marketdevelop-processes
in Skovde Sweden and Ageo ment and in order to be able to adapt the level

Japan. During 2011 we have also invested in the ongoing and future investments arecontin-the
dealer network and workshops mainly in uously reviewed and

prioritized.
Theinvest-Europeand Asia as well as in our joint venture ments in coming product programs continue

VE Commercial Vehicles VECV. during 2012 as well as the expansion of the

Capital investments for Construction Equip- business in the BRIC countries.

ment amounted to SEK 1.9 billion 1.4. As for

Operating cash flow Capital expenditures Industrial Operations Self-financing ratio

tn strtal tt9/4-uIndustrial OPerations SEK on Opera

2010 2011 Property plant
and

equipment SEK bn

Capitalized development

costs. SEK bn

Capital expenditures

t.ý
% of net sales

07 08 09 10 11
07 08 09 10 11

8.0 10.5 7.7 7.1 8.5
265 78 16 294 210

01 02 03 Q4 01 02 03 04 2.1 2.1 2.6 3.2 41

2.7 8.5 1.9 15.1 4.0 5.2 2.2 10.7 3.6 4.3 5.0 4.0 4.1 Cash-flow from operating activities

divided by net investments in fixed

assets and leasing
assets.

79



FINANCIAL INFORMATION 2011

CHANGES IN CONSOLIDATED SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

Shareholders equity
attributable to equity holders of

the Parent Company

Share Other Translation Retained Minority
Totai

SEK M capital reserves reserve earnings Total interests equity

Balance at December 31 2009 2554 123 6112 57616 66405 629 67034

Transition effect IFRS 3 capitalized

transaction costs
- - 135 135 - 135

Total equity at beginning of period 2554 123 6112 57481 66270 629 66899

Income for the period
- - 10866 10866 346 11212

Other comprehensive income

Translation differences on foreign operations
3859 3859 32 3891

Translation differences on hedge instruments

of net investments in foreign operations
113 113 113

Accumulated translation differences reversed
_

to income
- - 95 95 95

Available for sale investments Note 5 19

Gains/losses at valuation to fair value
148 148 148

Change in cash flow hedge reserve
Note 19 - 156 156 - 156

Other comprehensive income
- 8 3841 - 3849 32 3881

\

1 ý t

Z
v 7 49 6

i J c s S ý
i

Transactions with shareholders

Dividends to shareholders
-

- 412 412

358 35

Capital
contribution

-8-Share
based payments

Note 27

Changes in minority interests
- 180 180 115 65

Other changes
- - - 3 3 7 10

Transactions with shareholders
- - - 177 177 68 109

Balance at December 31 2010 2554 115 2271 68170 73110 1011 74121

Income for the period

- - - 17751 17751 364 18115

Other comprehensive income

Translation differences on foreign operations
- 1062 1062 82 980

Translation differences on hedge instruments of net
_

investments in foreign operations

- - 3 3 3

Accumulated translation differences reversed

to income
- - 30 30 - 30

Available-for-sale investments Note 5 19

Gains/losses at valuation to fair value
- 39 - 39 39

Change in cash flow hedge reserve
Note 19

- 144 - - 144 - 144

-Other eompceherýsive ýcome as tRe period
105 1

09.5
1200 82 1118

Transactions with shareholders

Dividends to shareholders
- - - 5069 5069 2 5071

Transactions with minority
interests

- 67 67 67

Share based payments
Note 27 - - 57 57 - 57

Changes in minority interests

356 356

1 0
Other changes

- - 1 1

Transactions with shareholders
- - 5080 5080 357 5437

Balance at December 31 2011 2554 10 1176 80841 84581 1100 85681

1 For specification of other reserves see Note 19
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Amounts in SEK M unless otherwise specified. The amounts within parentheses refer to the preceding year 2010.

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

NOTE

The consolidated financial statements for AB Volvo and its subsidiaries have 2004 Annual Report for a description of the previous Swedish accounting

been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Stand- policies applied by Volvo.

ards IFRS issued by the International Accounting Standards Board IASB

as adopted by the EU The portions of IFRS not adopted by the EU have no

material impact on this report.
This Annual Report is prepared in accordance

Ki
How should Volvos accounting policies be read

with IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and with the Swedish Com- Volvo describes the accounting policies in conjunction with each note in

panies Act. In addition RFR 1 Supplementary Rules for Groups has been the aim of providing enhanced understanding of each accounting area.

applied which is issued by the Swedish Financial Reporting Board. As of Volvo focuses on describing the accounting choices that the Group has

2005 Volvo has applied International Financial Reporting Standards IFRS made within the framework of the prevailing
IFRS policy

and avoids

in its financial statements. In accordance with the IFRS transitions rules in repeating the actual text of the standard unless Volvo considers itpar-IFRS
1 Volvo applies retrospective application from the IFRS transition date ticularly important to the understanding of the notes content. Refer to the

at January 1 2004. The details of the transition from Swedish GAAP to IFRS table below to see the note in which each accounting policy
is listed and

are set out in Note 3 in the annual reports of 2005 and 2006. Refer to the for the relevant and material IFRS standard.

Accounting principle
Note

IFRS-standard

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued 3 Acquisitions and divestments of shares in subsidiaries FRS 5

operations

Joint ventures 5 Shares and participations
AS 31

Investments in associates 5 Shares and participations
AS 28

Operating segments
6 Segment reporting

IFRS 8

Revenue 7Income
AS 17 IAS 18

Shares and participations
5 Shares and participations

AS 28 IAS 32 IAS 36

IAS 39

Financial income and expenses 9 Other financial income and expenses
IAS 39

Income taxes 10 Income taxes
IAS 12

__

Minority interests 11 Minority interests IAS 27

Research and development expenditure 12 Intangible assets
IAS 38

Intangible assets 12 Intangible assets IA5 36 IAS 38

Tangible assets 13 Tangible assets
IAS 16 IAS 40

Leasing
14 Leasing

IAS 17

Customer-financing receivables 15 Customer financing receivables IAS 17 IAS 18 IAS 39 IFRS 7

Inventories 17 Inventories
IAS 2

Earnings per share 19 Shareholders equity
IAS 33

Pensions and similar obligations 20 Provisions for post-employment benefits AS 19

Provisions for residual value risks 21 Other provisions
IAS 17 IAS 18 IAS 37

Warranty expenses
21 Other provisions

Restructuring costs 21 Other provisions IAS 31.7

Lia litres

Contingent liabilities 24 Contingent liabilities
IAS 37

Transactions with related parties
25 Transactions with related parties

IAS 24

Government grants
26 Government grants

IAS 20

Share based payments
27 Personnel

IFRS 2

Cash flow statement 29 Cash flow
IA

Financial instruments 4 Goals and policies
in financial risk management IAS 32 IAS 39 S 7

16 Receivables

18 Marketable securities and
liquid

funds

30 Financial instruments
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Consolidated financial statements Exchange rate differences on loans and other financial instruments in

foreign currency which are used to hedge net assets in foreign
subsidiaries

Principles for consolidation and associated companies are offset against translation differences in

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
the shareholders equity of the respective companies. Exchange-rate

with the principles
set forth in IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial

gains and losses on assets and liabilities in foreign currencies both on

Statements. Accordingly intra-Group transactions and gains on transac-
payments during the year and on measurements at year-end impact profit

tions with associated companies are eliminated. The consolidated finan-
or loss in the year in which they are incurred. The more important exchange

cial statements comprise the Parent Company subsidiaries joint
ventures

rates applied are shown in the table.

and associated companies.

- Subsidiaries are defined as companies in which Volvo holds more than

50% of the voting rights or in which Volvo otherwise has a controlling
Exchange rates Average rate Closing rate

interest.
Country Currency 2011 2010 2011 2010

- Joint ventures are companies over which Volvo has joint
control together

Brazil BRL 3.8850 4.0925 3.7109 4.0560

with one or more external parties.
Joint ventures are recognized using

the proportionate method of consolidation.
Canada CAD 6.5694 6.9973 6.7808 6 8085

- Associated companies are companies in which Volvo has a significant
China CNY 1.0057 1.0643 1.0998 1.0300

influence which is normally when Volvos holdings correspond to at Denmark DKK 1.2137 1.2823 1.2044 1 2086

least 20% but less than 50% of the voting rights. Holdings in associated Euro zone EUR 9.0430 9.5502 8.9540 9.0113

companies are recognized in accordance with the equity method. Great Britain GBP 104179 11.1319 10.6831 10.5538

Japan JPY 0.0817 0.0823 0.0892 0.0835

Translation to Swedish kronor when consolidating companies using Norway NOK 1.1596 1.1926 1.1515 1 1530

foreign currencies South Korea KRW 0.0059 0.0062 0.0060 0.0060

AB Volvos functional currency is the Swedish krona SEK. The functional
United States USD 6.4982 7.2060 6.9247 6.8038

currency of each Volvo Group company is determined based on thepri-maryeconomic environment in which it operates. The primary economic
New accounting principles for 2011

environment is normally the one in which the company primarily generates
None of the new accounting principles or interpretations that came into

and expends cash. In most cases the functional currency is the currency
effect as of January 1 2011 has had any significant impact on the Volvo

of the country where the company is located. AB Volvos and the Volvo

Groups financial statements.

Groups presentation currency is SEK. In preparing the consolidated

financial statements all items in the income statements of foreign sub-
New accounting principles for 2012 and later

sidiaries and joint ventures except for subsidiaries in hyperinflationary When preparing the consolidated financial statements as of December

economies are translated to SEK at monthly exchange rates. All balance-
31 2011 a number of standards and interpretations has been published

sheet items are translated at exchange rates at the respective year-ends
but has not yet become effective. The following is a preliminary assessment

closing rate. The differences in consolidated shareholders equity arising
of the effect that the implementation of these standards and statements

from variations between closing rates for the current and preceding year
could have on the Volvo Groups financial statements.

are charged or credited directly to other comprehensive income as a separate

component. Amendment to 1AS 19 Employee benefits

The accumulated translation difference related to a certain subsidiary
As from January 1 2013 the amendment to IAS 19 Employee benefits

joint venture or associated company is reversed to profit or loss as a part
will become effective. The revised standard is applied retrospectively and

of the gain/loss arising
from the divestment or liquidation

of such a company.
hence the closing balance for 2011 will be adjusted in accordance with

IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies is applied
revised IAS 19 and the reported numbers for 2012 will be restated

to financial statements of subsidiaries operating in hyperinflationary
accordingly for comparison reason.

economies. Volvos method of recognition is based on cost. Translation
The amended standard removes the option to use the corridor method

differences due to inflation are charged against earnings for the
year.

Cur-

currently used by the Volvo Group. Discount rate will be used whencalcu-rentlyVolvo has no subsidiaries with a functional currency that could be

lating
the net interest income or expense on the net defined benefitliabil-considered

a hyperinflationary currency.
ity

asset hence the expected return will no longer be used. All changes

in the net defined benefit liability or asset will be recognized when they

Receivables and liabilities in foreign currency
occur. Service cost and net interest will be recognized in

profit
and loss

Receivables and liabilities in foreign currency are measured at closing
while remeasurements such as actuarial gains and losses will be recognized

-rates.JranslatiotLdiffere-nces on operating assets and liabilities are rec
beýýQ Freýensive in orr

ognized in operating income while translation differences arising in finan-
In accordance with AS 19 revised the recognized pension liability

will

cial assets and liabilities are charged to other financial income and

in-reas_ebpi approximatel 5EK 12 billion as the unrecognized part
of the

expenses.Finarieiaf assef analrabllifisarecfefinefias rteiýisrricllyded trt

the net financial position of the Volvo Group see Definitions at the end of
pension liability no longer can be reported off balance. Shareholders

equity will decrease by approximately SEK 8 billion net of deferred taxes

this report. Derivative financial instruments used for hedging of exchange
in the opening balance for 2012 in accordance with IAS 19 revised. Net

and interest risks are recognized at fair value. Gains on exchange rates
financial position including post-employment benefits would increase by

are recognized as receivables and losses on exchange rates are recog- SEK 12 billion while the equity ratio would decrease. Further changes in

nized as liabilities. Depending on the lifetime of the financial instrument
the net defined benefit liability

will be the modified net interest calculation

the item is recognized as current or non current in the balance sheet.
and the removal of the amortisation of actuarial gains and losses.
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Effect on operating income of proportionate method used by Volvo when recognizing jointly
controlled

Unrecognized actuarial amortization of unrecognized companies will be abolished meaning that the equity method will remain

Off-balance gains and losses actuarial losses
for the type of

joint
ventures that Volvo has. Hereafter Volvo will notcon-Dec

31 2009 SEK 9 billion
_ solidate the assignable part item by item the assignable part

will be

Dec 31 2010 SEK 7 billion SEK 420 M
shown as income from investments in associated companies. The equity

- - -.- - -- interest of the joint ventures result will be affect the investment in
joint

Dec 31 20 111 SEK 12 billion SEK 335 M
ventures in the balance sheet.

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities requires more detailed

For the Swedish part of the net pension liability there are still some uncer-
disclosure reports on subsidiaries associated companies andnon-tainties

regarding the accounting for Swedish special payroll tax and
consolidated structured companies in which the company is involved.

Swedish yield tax. Swedish special payroll tax assignable to the amount
Volvo is currently conducting a full analysis of the significance of these

reported as the corridor for the Swedish entities amounts to approximately
standards and how they will affect Volvo. Although the standards arecon-SEK

1 billion. In the opening balance for 2012 in accordance with IAS 19 sidered to change the recognition of
joint ventures they are notconsid-revised

this will likely
be reported as an increase of the recognized pension

ered to have any significant impact on the consolidation of othercompa-liabilityand in shareholders equity net of deferred taxes.
nies of which Volvo has ownership or is involved. The scope of the

For further information of provision for post-employment benefit see
disclosures will probably increase in this area due to IFRS 12

note 20.
IFRS 9 Financial instruments

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
IFRS 9 is published in three parts Classification and Measurement

and IFRS 12 Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities applicable from Impairment and Hedge Accounting which will replace the current IAS 39

January 1 2013.
with application not earlier than January 1 2015. Prior application isvol-IFRS

10 replaces the consolidation instructions in IAS 27 Consolidated untary subject to EU approval. Volvo is currently conducting a review of

and Separate Financial Statements and SIC-12 Consolidation -
Special

how the implementation of IFRS 9 will impact the Group. A
joint position

Purpose Entities and aims to implement a consolidation policy
based on

will be taken in conjunction with the final version of all three components

control defined as the extent to which the owner i has control of the of the project being published.

investment object ii receives or is entitled to variable returns from his/

her involvement in the investment object and iii has the ability
to exercise

These standards/interpretations had not been adopted by the EU when

his/her control of the investment object to influence the size of the return
this Annual Report was published. The dates listed for application may

thus be subject to change due to decisions made during the EU approval

IFRS 11 replaces IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and implements

new accounting requirements for
joint

ventures. The ability
to apply the process.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

NOTE

Volvos most significant accounting policies are primarily
described Source of estimation uncetainty Note

together with the applicable note. Refer to Note 1 Accounting Policies for

a specification.
The preparation of Volvos Consolidated Financial State- Revenue recognition 7 Income

ments requires the use of estimates judgements and assumptions that Deferred taxes 10 Income taxes

affect the recognized amounts of assets liabilities and provisions at the Impairment of goodwill and otherintan-date
of the financial statements and the recognized amounts of sales and

gible
assets 12 Intangible assets

expenses during the periods presented. In preparing these financial Assets and other non current assets 13 Tangible assets

statements Volvos management has made its best estimates and judge- Credit loss reserves 15 Customer-financing

ments of certain amounts included in the financial statements giving due receivables

consideration to materiality.
Since future results are an unknown quantity 16 Receivables

actual results could differ from these estimates due to the application of
inventory obsolescence 17 Inventories

these assumptions. In accordance with IAS 1 the company is required to Pensions and other post-employment 20 Provisions forpost-provideadditional disclosure of accounting policies in which estimates benefits
_

employment benefits

ju gmen s and assume ions are parftvtarys-errnrtivearrd-which if-a-ctuaf---- uc warranW cos
21ýttTerprovisiorrs

results differ may have a material impact on the financial statements.
Legal proceedings 21 Other provisions

-

The sources of uncertainty which has been identified by Volvo and

which fulfil those criterias are presented in connection to the itemscon-sidered
to be affected. The adjacent table shows where to find those

presentations.
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9ft ACQUISITIONS AND DIVESTMENTS OF SHARES IN SUBSIDIARIES

TOTE 01

AB Volvos holding of shares in subsidiaries as of December 31 2011

ACCOUNTING POLICY is shown in the disclosures of AB Volvos holding of shares in Note 5.

Significant acquisitions formations and divestments within the Group

Reporting of business combinations
are listed below.

Volvo applies IFRS 3 Business Combinations for
acquisitions.

All business

combinations are accounted for in accordance with the purchase method. Acquisitions for the period

Volvo values acquired identifiable assets tangible and intangible and lia-

The Volvo Group has not made any acquisitions during 2010 and 2011

bilities at fair value. Any surplus amount from the purchase price possible
which solely or jointly

have had a significant impact on the Volvo Groups

non-controlling interests and fair value of previously held equity interests financial statements. For acquisitions in 2010 and 2011 the fair-value

at the acquisition date compared to the Groups share of acquired net adjustments to the acquisition balance sheets have thus not beensignifi-assets
is reported as goodwill. Any lesser amount known as negative

cant for the Volvo Group.

goodwill is recognized in
profit

and loss.
The impact on the Volvo Groups balance sheet and cash-flowstate-In

step acquisitions a business combination occurs only on the date
ment in connection with the acquisition of subsidiaries and other business

control is achieved which is the point when goodwill is calculated. Trans- units are specified in the following table based on valuations on the

actions with the minority are recognized as equity as long as control of the respective acquisition dates

subsidiary is retained. For each business combination Volvo decides

whether the non-controlling interest should be valued at fair value or at Acquisitions
2011 2010

the non-controlling interests proportionate share of the net assets of the Intangible assets 1 0

acquiree. All acquisition-related costs are expensed. Companies acquired Property plant and equipment
132 32

during the year are consolidated as of the date of
acquisition. Companies Assets under operating lease 1503 468

that have been divested are included in the consolidated financial state-
Inventories 38 56

ments up to and including the date of divestment.
Current receivables 236 99

Cash
Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

and cash equivalents
39 15

Other assets 1
12

Volvo applies IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued

Operations. The standard also includes the treatment of current assets. In
Minority interests 387 20

a global group like the Volvo Goup processes are continuously ongoing
Provisions 36 22

regarding the sale of assets or groups of assets at minor values. In cases Loans 1510 374

in which the criteria for being classified as a non-current asset held for Current liabilities 191 143

sale are fulfilled and the asset or group of assets is not of minor value the 600 163

asset or group of assets and the related liabilities are recognized on a
967 52

separate line in the balance sheet. The asset or group of assets are tested
Goodwill

for impairment and if impaired measured at fair value after deductions for
Acquired net assets 1567 215

selling expenses. The balance sheet items and the income effect result-
Cash and cash equivalents paid 1567 229

in from the revaluation to fair value less selling expenses arenormally Cash and cash equivalents according to

recognized in the segment Group headquarter functions and other until
acquisition analysis

39 15

the sale is completed and the result attributed to each segment. Effect on Group cash and cash

equivalents 1528 214

Divestments

The Volvo Group has not made any divestments during 2011 which solely

or
jointly

have had a significant impact on the Volvo Groups financial

statements. Comparative figures for 2010 include the divestment of Volvo

Aeros US subsidiary Volvo Aero Services VAS and Volvo CEs distribution

networks in Turkey and Russia.

e-impact-o mth Volvo-Groups balance-sheet-and-cash-tew-statemen -

in connection with the divestment of subsidiaries and other business units

specified in the following table
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Divestments 2011 2010

Intangible assets 5 0

Property plant and equipment 4 32
Assets under operating lease 0 190

Shares and participations
0 0

Inventories 45 1096

Other receivables 130 334

Cash and cash equivalents 21 176

Other provisions
17 10

Other liabilities 143 540

45 1298

Goodwill 0 122

Divested net assets 45 1420

Cash and cash equivalents received 41 1007

Cash and cash equivalents divested

companies
21 176

Effect on Group cash and cash

equivalents 62 831

Acquisitions and divestments after the end of the period

Volvo has not made any acquisitions or divestments after the end of the

period that have had any significant impact on the Volvo Group.

Assets and liabilities held for sale

At year-end 2011 the Volvo Group recognized assets amounting to 9348

and liabilities amounting to 4716 as assets and liabilities held for sale.

Translation differences on foreign operations of 3 is included in other

comprehensive income. This is referring to the initiated process to divest

the business area Volvo Aero. A divestment is in line with the further

streamlining of the Volvo Group towards commercial vehicles. Depending

on the progress with the sales process changes in the businessenviron-mentaccess to liquidity
market outlook etc. the fair value of assets held

for sale may change in the forthcoming periods or when the transaction is

finalized. For the comparative year 2010 the Volvo Group recognized

assets amounting to 136 and liabilities to 135 classified as assets and

liabilities held for sale.

Assets and liabilities held for sale 2011 2010

Intangible assets 3316 0

Tangible assets 1984 43

Inventories 2216 8

Accounts receivable 566 56

Other current receivables 982 24

Other assets 284 5

Total assets 9348 136

1025 31
_ Trade_payahles

Other current liabilities 3691 104

Total liabilities
4716 135
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GOALS AND POLICIES IN FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

NOTE

Volvos global operations expose the company to financial risks in the form

of interest rate risks currency risks credit risks and liquidity risks. Work on

financial risks comprises an integrated element of Volvos business. Volvo

Group strives to minimize these risks by optimizing the Groups capital

costs by utilizing
economies of scale minimize negative effects on income

as a result of changes in currency or interest rates and to optimize risk

exposure. All risks are managed pursuant to Volvos established policies

in these areas. For further information on Accounting principles
for Financial

Instruments refer to note 30 Financial Instruments.

Volvos risk management related to specific balance sheet items are thus

also described in other areas of the Annual Report. Refer to the Notes

instructions.

z.x

V.7
44

CASH FLOW RISKS
COMMERCIAL CURRENCY

COMMERCIAL CREDIT RISK
EXPOSURE

PRICE RISKS
FINANCIAL CURRENCY

FINANCIAL CREDIT RISK
EXPOSURE

CURRENCY EXPOSURE FINANCIAL

OF EQUITY COUNTERPARTY RISK

Er aL6.5

of matching interest rate fixing on borrowing and lending. The calculation

tNNTE ST-R T_- RISKS FA of the matching degree excludes equity which amounted to between 8

and 10% in the customer finance operations. At year-end 2011 the

Interest-rate risk refers to the risk that changed interest-rate levels will degree of such matching was 97% 100 which was in line with the Groups

affect consolidated earnings and cash flow cash-flow risks or the fair policy. At year-end 2011 in addition to the assets in its customer-financing

value of financial assets and liabilities price risks. operations Volvos interest- bearing assets consisted primarily
of cash

cash equivalents and liquid assets invested in short-term interest-bearing

securities. The objective is to achieve an interest-fixing
term of three

.- months for the
liquid

assets in Volvos industrial operations through the

use of derivatives. On December 31 2011 after taking derivatives into

Matching the interest-fixing terms of financial assets and liabilities account the average interest on these assets was 1.9% 2.0. After taking

reduces the exposure. Interest-rate swaps are used to change/influence derivatives into account outstanding loans had interest termscorre-the
interest-fixing

term for the Groups financial assets and liabilities. sponding to an interest-rate fixing term of three months and the average

Currency interest-rate swaps enable borrowing in foreign currencies from interest at year-end amounted to 4.1% 4.3 including Volvos credit costs.

different markets without introducing currency risk. Volvo also has

standard-ized-interestrate-fiorward-contracts-futures-and-FRAs-forwar d-rate -ks-lre

agreements. Most of these contracts are used to hedge interest-rate levels Exposure to price
risks as result of changed interest-rate levels refers to

g
financial assets and liabilities with a longer interest-rate fixing term fixed

fnxýhrurt termhýrQwira or Irauestmentý_

$s interest.

The following table o shows the effect on income before taxes in

Cash-flow risks Industrial Operations financial net position including pensions and similar

The effect of changed interest rate levels on future currency and interest- net obligations if interest rates were to increase by 1 percentage point

rate flows
primarily pertains to the Groups customer financing operations 100 basis points assuming an average interest-rate fixed term of three

and net financial items. Customer finance operations measure the degree months.

The Notes sensitivity analysis on interest rate risks is based on simplified assumes a parallel deferment of the return curve and that the interest rates on

assumptions. It is not unreasonable for market interest rates to change by
1

per-
assets and liabilities will be equally impacted by changes in market interest rates.

centage point 100 basis points on an annual basis. However in reality
these Accordingly the impact of real interest-rate changes may differ from the analysis

rates often rise or decline at different points in time. The sensitivity analysis
also

presented above. Vo
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Net financial Impact on earnings Impact on Net financial

Currency
position incl. before tax if interest rate position if SEK rises

pensions rises 1% 10%

Ps interest-rate risks s Currency risks

Volvos net assets in SEK M

different currencies SEK bn 182 2427JPY 24272 182

USD
..

5644 42 564

INR 811 6 81

CNY 2453 18 245
----------- -- - -

-. EUR 7286 55 729

Other 20 0 17

Total Vc 19346 145 1919

Read more about the Volvo Groups net financial position on page 77. WW..F- ---- -- - --- - - a

2

policy and to minimize the exposure of financial items in Volvos balanceý. RISKS
sheet. Below is a presentation on how this work is conducted forcommer-cial

and financial currency exposure and for currency exposure ofshare-The
content of the recognized balance sheet may be affected by changes holders equity.

.-ýrýý
in different exchange rates. Currency risks in Volvos operations are

related to changes in the value of contracted and expected futurepay-ment
flows commercial currency exposure changes in the value of loans Commercial currency exposure

and investments financial currency exposure and changes in the value of Transaction exposure from commercial flows

assets and liabilities in foreign subsidiaries currency exposure of share- Volvo uses forward contracts and currency options to hedge the value of

holders equity.
future payment flows in foreign currencies. Volvo only hedges firm flows

most of which are realized within six months. The hedged amount of firm

flows for all periods fall within the framework of Volvos currency policy.

The aim of Volvos currency risk management is to secure cash flow from Cont.

firm flows rou- gF currhedges pursuant-tothe

stabliSh-edcurreTrcy--The
Volvo Groups outstanding forward contracts and options contracts for hedging of commercial currency risks

Other

Currencies currencies Market value

Millions
USD GBP EUR JPY Net SEK

Due date 2012 amount 1100 75 22 5514 604

Due date 2013 amount 2 - - 115 17

Due date 2014 amount 2 - - - -

Total local currency 1096 75 22 5629 621

Average contract rate
6.76 10.73 9.21 0.08

Market value of outstanding forward

contracts SEK M 147 3 37 16 1 172
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The table on the preceding page VF shows outstanding forward and option Group is affected by exchange-rate fluctuations since financial assets

contracts for the hedging of commercial currency risks. The table on page
and liabilities are distributed among Group companies that conduct their

74 shows commercial net flows per currency transactional flows net. operations using different currencies.

The Impact on Net financial position table on the previous page shows

Translation exposure during the consolidation of operating income the impact on earnings before tax of Industrial operations financial net

in foreign subsidiaries position including pensions and similar net obligations if the SEK were to

In conjunction with the translation of operating income in foreign subsidi- strengthen by 10%. Vo

aries Volvos earnings are impacted if currency rates change. Volvo does

not hedge this risk. For more information on currency hedging of equity Currency exposure of equity

see below.
The consolidated value of assets and liabilities in foreign subsidiaries is

affected by current exchange rates in conjunction with the translation of

Sensitivity analysis - currencies
assets and liabilities to Swedish kronor. To minimize currency exposure of

The tables below show the impact on sales and operating income for equity the size of equity in foreign subsidiaries is continuously optimized

Volvo if key currencies fluctuate. The
sensitivity analysis include the trans- with respect to commercial and legal conditions. Currency hedging of

action impact from commercial flows and the translation impact during the equity may occur in cases where a foreign subsidiary is consideredover-consolidation
of foreign subsidiaries. capitalized.

Net assets in foreign subsidiaries and associated companies

amounted at year-end 2011 to SEK 67.8 billion 60.3. The remaining

Financial currency exposure
loans used as hedging instruments have expired in 2011. For moreinfor-Loans

and investments in the Groups subsidiaries are performed mainly mation on hedging of net investments in foregin operations recognized in

through Volvo Treasury in local currencies which minimizes individual equity refer to note 30 Financial Instruments.The need to undertakecur-companies
financial currency exposure. Volvo Treasury uses various rency hedging relating to investments in associated companies and other

derivatives to facilitate lending and borrowing in different currencies with- companies is assessed on a case-by-case basis.

out increasing the companys risk. The financial net position of the Volvo Volvos net assets in different currencies are presented on the map on

the previous page.

Sensitivity analysis

I

Sensitivity analysis

Currency effect on net sales from inflows in foreign Currency effect on operating income from net flows in

currency and translation effect when consolidating net foreign currency and translation effect when consolidating

sales in foreign subsidiaries. operating income in foreign subsidiaries.

1.0 0.5

2.0

3.0
1.0

4.0
1.5

5.0 2.0

6.0 2.5
7.0

8.0
3.0 - - -

BRL CNY EUR GBP INR JPY RUB USD ZAR Other BRL CNY EUR GBP KRW RUB USD ZAR Other

Changes in
currency exchange rates compared to 2010 Total SEK neg 202 bn Changes in currency exchange rates compared to 2010 Total SEK neg 47 bn

Strengthen
in value of SEK by 10% Total SEK

neg
310 Strengthen in value of SEK by 10% Total SEK neg 63

G

Volvos currency review When Volvo communicates the currency impact on operating income the following factors are included

E

I

Currency impact on operating income SEK billion
2011 2010 Change

- Ne flowsAn-foreign-ojrfe-n

3 7

Realized gains and losses on hedging contracts 0.2 0.5 0.3

Unrealized gains a1d_losses-on hedging contracts___
0 2 0 5

Unrealized gains and losses on receivables and liabilities in foreign currency
0.3 0.1 0.2

Currency effect from devaluation in Venezuela
0 0.1 0.1

Translation effect on operating income in foreign subsidiaries
1.0

Total currency impact on operating income
5.2

Currency impact on Net flows in foreign currency and Translation effect on operating income in foreign subsidiaries are detailed in table

Fa in key currencies for Volvo.
t

The Notes sensitivity analysis on currency rate risks is based on simplified same direction at any given time so the actual effect of exchange-rate changes

assumptions. Its not unreasonable for the value in SEK to strengthen by 10% in may differ from the sensitivity analysis. Please refer to table o MG K

relation to other currencies. In reality
currencies usually do not change in the
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The credit portfolio of Volvos customer-financing operations amounted

at December 31 2011 to approximately net SEK 79 billion 73. The credit

risk of this portfolio
is distributed over a large number of retail customers

Credit risks are defined as the risk that Volvo does not receive payment for and dealers. Collaterals are provided in the form of the financed products.

recognized accounts receivable and customer-financing receivables In the credit granting Volvo strives for a balance between risk exposure

commercial credit risk that Volvos investments are unable to be realized and expected return.

financial credit risk and that potential profit
is not realized due to the

Read more about Volvos credit risk in the customer financing operation
in

counterparty not fulfilling its part of the contract when using derivative

ote 15.

instruments financial counterparty risk.

Financial credit risk

The Volvo Groups financial assets are largely managed by Volvo Treasury

and invested in the money and capital markets. All investments must meet

the requirements of low credit risk and high liquidity. According to Volvos

The objective of the Volvo Group Credit Policy is to define and measure
credit policy counterparties for investments and derivative transactions

the credit exposure and control the risk of losses deriving from credits to
should have a rating of A or better from one of the well-established credit

customers credits to suppliers counter party risks and Customer Dealer
rating

institutions.

Financing activities.

Financial counterparty risk

The use of derivatives involves a counterparty risk in that a potential gain

Commercial credit risk will not be realized if the counterparty fails to fulfill its part of the contract.

Volvos credit granting is steered by Group-wide policies
and customer-

To reduce the exposure master netting agreements are signed wherever

classification rules. The credit portfolio
should contain a sound distribu-

possible with the counterparty in question. Counterparty risk exposure for

tion among different customer categories and industries. The credit risks
futures contracts is limited through daily or monthly cash transferscor-are

managed through active credit monitoring follow-up routines and
responding to the value change of open contracts. The estimated gross

where applicable product repossession. Moreover regular monitoring
exposure to counterparty risk relating

to futures interest-rate swaps and

ensures that the necessary allowances are made for incurred losses on
interest-rate forward contracts options and commodities contracts

doubtful receivables. In Notes 15 and 16 ageing analyses are presented amounted at December 31 2011 to 281 331 4024 3539 284 190

of customer finance receivables overdue and accounts receivables over-
and 68 168.

due in relation to the reserves made.
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The adjacent graph Vi shows expected future cash-flows includingderiv-ativesrelated to financial liabilities Capital flow refers to expectedpay-Liquidity
risk is defined as the risk that Volvo would be unable to finance ments of loans and derivatives see note 22. Expected interest flow refers

or refinance its assets or fulfill its payment obligations.
to the future interest payments on loans and derivatives based on interest

rates expected by the market. The interest flow is recognized within cash

flow from operating activities.

In addition to derivatives included in capital
flow in the table there are

also derivatives related to financial liabilities reported as assets which are

Volvo assures itself of sound financial preparedness by always keeping a expected to give a future capital
flow of SEK 0.8 bn and a future interest

certain percentage of its sales in liquid assets. A sound balance between
flow of SEK 3.4 bn.

short and long-term borrowing as well as borrowing preparedness in the

Read more about the maturity
structure concerning bond loans and other

form of overdraft facilities are intended to meet its long-term financing
loans as well as granted but unutilized credit facilities in Note 22.

needs.

Read more about contractual term analyses of Volvos future rental payments

from non-annullable financial and operational lease contracts in Note 14.

Future cash-flow including derivatives related to non-current

and current financial liabilities

0

10

20

30

40

50
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

44.5 28.2 20.9 11.3 13.0 11B 0.7 Capital flow SEK bn

5.6 3.3 2.7 1.3 0.9 0.6 0 Interest flow SEK be
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SHARES AND PARTICIPATIONS

NOTE

Joint ventures

ACCOUNTING POLICIES Group holdings of shares in joint ventures are listed below.

Joint ventures Dec 31 2011 Dec 31 2010

Joint ventures are companies over which Volvo has controlling influence
Shares in joint ventures Holding percentage Holding percentage

together with one or more external parties.
As stated in Note 1concern-ing

principles for consolidation joint
ventures are recognized by applying Shanghai Sunwin Bus Corp.

the proportionate consolidation method in accordance with IAS 31 Inter- China
50 50

ests in Joint ventures. Dong Feng Nissan Diesel

Motor Co. Ltd. China 50 50

Associated companies
VE Commercial Vehicles

Associated companies are companies in which Volvo has a significant
Ltd. India

50 50

influence which is normally when Volvos holdings equal at least 20% but Xian Silver Bus Corp. China - 50

less than 50% of the voting rights. Holdings in associated companies are

recognized in accordance with the equity method. The Groups share of
1 Direct and indirect ownership.

recognized income in such companies is included in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss under Income from participations in associated Volvos share of joint ventures Income

2011 2010

companies less where appropriate depreciation of surplus values and statements

the effect of applying different accounting policies.
Income from associ-

Net sales 4196 4178

ated companies is included in operating income since the Volvo invest- 127
Operating income

323

169ments are of operating nature. For practical reasons some of the
associ-Income after financial items 379

ated companies are included in the consolidated financial statements

Income taxes 73 66
with a certain time lag normally one quarter. Dividends from associated

companies are not included in consolidated income. In the consolidated Volvos share of income for

306 103

balance sheet the carrying amount of shareholdings in associated com- the period

panies is affected by Volvos share of the companys net income less

depreciation of surplus values and dividends received. Volvos share of joint ventures balance Dec 31 Dec 31

sheets
2011 2010

Shares and participations in other companies
Non-current assets

1915 1932

Holdings that do not provide Volvo with significant influence which generally

63 4

2206
20%

means that Volvos holding corresponds to less than 20/o of the votes are Current assets

4

2248 206

recognized as shares and participations in other companies. For listed
Total assets

shares the carrying amount is equivalent to the market value. Unlisted
Shareholders equity 2505 2627

shares and participations
in which fair value cannot reasonably be deter-

Provisions
274 294

mined are measured at cost less any impairment losses.

Long-term liabilities
6 1._

Current liabilities
1378 1205

Total shareholders equity and liabilities 4163 4138

At December 31 2011 guarantees amounting to 0 78 were issued by

AB Volvo for the benefit of joint ventures. At the same date Volvos share

of contingent liabilities in its joint
ventures totaled 38 46.

Volvos share of total 2011 2010

number of employees Number Number- _. - of- --of which -- -of

of-which-employ-women employ- women

ees do ees

Shanghai Sunwin Bus Corp. 453 16 455 16

- ---- -- - --- -

Xian Silver Bus Corp.
- - 144 21

Dong Feng Nissan Diesel

Motor Co. Ltd.
152 13 141 14

VE Commercial Vehicles Ltd. 3600 1 1479 1

Volvos share of

total number of

employees 4205 3 2219 7
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NJ Associated companies

The following table presents summarized financial information for Volvos associated companies. The income statement and balance sheet below reflect

the total associated companies not only the part consolidated by Volvo.

Shares and participations in associated companies Registration Percentage Dec 31 2011 Dec 31 2010

equity method of accounting
number holding Carrying

value Carrying
value

Blue Chip Jet II HB Sweden 969717-2105 50 405 319

UD Trucks Doto Corporation Japan
- 38 103 94-UDTrucks Niigata Corporation Japan

34 69 61

Merkavim Metal Works Ltd Israel
27 17 37

JV Fonderie Venissieux France
49 35 3

PK-UD Axle Co.Ltd. HangZhou China 51
30

Diamond Finance Ltd Great Britain2
- 18

Blue Chip Jet HB Sweden
969639-1011 50 8 3

- ..._..........
.._._ --..... ....

Quingdao Sunwin Bus Corp China
43 9

Arabian Vehicle Truck Indust Ltd Saudi Arabia
25 9 9

.....Effpower AB Sweden3 556570-8541 9 29

Powercell Sweden AB Sweden
556759-8353 47 17 2

Other holdings

12 16

Total shares and participations in associated companies4
684 684

1 In 2011 Volvo acquired additional 6% and the company is now a subsidiary. In 3 In 2011 the holding was reduced to 9% and the company is therefore no longer

2010 the holding in PK-UD Axle Co. Ltd was 45%. accounted for as an associated company. In 2010 the holding in Effpower AB

2 The company was liquidated during 2011. In 2010 the holding in Diamond was 34%

Finance Ltd was 40%. 4 Volvos share of shareholders equity
in associated companies incl. equity in

untaxed reserves amounted to 684 684.

The following table presents summarized financial information for Volvos Income from investments in associated companies

associated companies. The income statement and balance sheet below

reflect the total associated companies not only the part consolidated by Income/loss 2011 2010

Volvo.

UD Trucks Niigata Co 5 7

Income statement data 2011 2010 JV Fonderie Venissieux 4 1
Merkavim Metal Works Ltd 17 15

Net sales 2543 3794 Blue Chip Jet -I II HB 46 39
---..

Cost of sales 2491 3840
Holdings of Volvo Technology Transfer 6 58

.

Financial income and expense
29 32 Other comP anies 2 1

Income before taxes 23 78 Subtotal 24 75

Income taxes 23 46
Revaluation and write-down of shares

Income of the period
0 124 Blue Chip Jet I II

HB - 11

Holdings of Volvo Technology Transfer 48

Balance sheet data Dec 31 Dec 31 Other companies
4 -

2011 2010

Subtotal 52 11

Non-current assets 2094 2085
Gains losses on divestment of shares in

Current assets 1485 1558 associated companies

TotaLassets 3579
--

343
Heldiags-of-Votvo-Tee-hnetogy-Trarýsfer

Shareholders equity 1605 1686 Subtotal 5 -

- Qrovislurrs
53___ __ __Total income toss from inLVes m .l Siný

associated companies 81 86
Non-current liabilities 621 452

Current liabilities 1300 1444
1 Investments held by the Volvo venture-capital company.

Total shareholders equity and liabilities 3579 3643
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Shares and participations in other companies Income from other investments

The carrying amount of Volvos holdings of shares and participations in

other companies as of December 31 2011 is shown in the table below. Dividends received 2011 2010

Holdings In listed companies Dec 31 Dec 31
Deutz AG 2 2

2011 2010 Holdings in Japanese companies 13 14

Percentage Carrying Carrying

holding value value
Other 6 7

Subtotal 21 23

Deutz AG Germany 7.2 299 458y
Write-downs of shares

Nippon Express Co.Ltd. Japan 0.4 93 131

Holdings of Volvo Technology Transfer 43 107
TBK Co Ltd. Japan 6.7 61 68

Sankyu Inc. Japan 0.5 44 53 Holdings in Japanese companies 226
......

-.

Other 1 1
Fukuyama Transporting Co.Ltd.

Japan 0.2 16 15 Subtota12 270 108

Senko Co.Ltd -Japan
1.0 32 30

Gain on divestment of shares

Tonami Holdings Co.Ltd. Japan 1.1 15 14
Holdings of Volvo Technology Transfer 11 10

Yamato Holdings Co.Ltd. Japan 0.1 25 21
Holdings in Japanese companies 5 24

Holdings in other listed companies 50 46
-

Ott. her 8 7
Total holdings in listed other Subtotal 24 27

companies 635 836
Total 225 58

Holdings in non-listed companies 555 578
1 Investments held by the Volvo venture-capital company.

Total shares and participations 2 Write-downs of shares refer mainly to financial assets available for sale for

in other companies 1190 1414 which a reliable market value can be calculated.

1 Unlisted shares and participations in which fair value cannot be reasonably
Changes in the Volvo Groups holdings of

determined are measured at cost less any impairment losses
shares and participations

2011 2010

Balance sheet December 31 preceding year 2098 2044

Change in Group structure 19 -

Acquisitions and divestments net 92 104

Write-downs 96 119

Capital contribution 23 31

Share of income in associated companies 24 75

Revaluation of shares to fair value 203 148

Translation differences 34 22

Dividends 35 1
Reclassifications

- 42

Other 4 14

Balance sheet December 31 1874 2098
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION 2011

SEGMENT REPORTING

NOTE

Reporting by product area Net sales to Group companies 2011 2010

The Volvo Groups operations are until year end 2011 organized in nine

business areas Volvo Trucks Renault Trucks North American Trucks Trucks 1921 1421

Trucks Asia Buses Construction Equipment Volvo Penta Volvo Aero and Construction Equipment 606 347

526 490
Customer Finance. In addition to the nine business areas there are other Buses

operations consisting mainly of business units that are designed to sup- Volvo Penta 140 129

port the business areas operations. The business units include Volvo
Volvo Aero 1 21

Powertrain Volvo 3P Volvo IT Volvo Logistics and Volvo Parts. As the four
Other and eliminations 1426 984

truck brands share product development production and other activities
Industrial Operations 1769 1424

in business units such as Volvo 3P and Volvo Powertrain and also share

certain infrastructure in distribution such as dealers the four truck brands Customer Finance 337 231

are reported as one aggregated business segment. The Volvo Group is Eliminations 2106 1655

thus reported divided in six segments in which net sales and operating Volvo Group
0 0

income are reported for each product area.

Each business area except for Customer Finance has total responsi- Internal sales between business areas are generally made at standard

bility
for its operating income operating capital

and operating cash flow. cost of sales including calculated interest and product improvement

Volvo Financial Services within Customer Finance has responsibility for
expenses. Internal sales from service companies are generally made at

its net income and total balance sheet within certain restrictions and prin- market
prices.

ciples that are established centrally.
The supervision and coordination of

treasury and tax matters is organized centrally to obtain the benefits of a
Operating Income 2011 2010

Group-wide approach. The legal structure of the Volvo Group is based on

optimal handling of treasury tax and administrative matters and accord- Trucks 18260 10112

ingly differs from the operating structure.
Construction Equipment 6653 6180

The business units are designated to support the business areas and Buses 1036 780

are therefore not reportable business segments. The results from the syn- Volvo Penta 781 578

ergies created in the business units are transferred back to the various Volvo Aero 336 286

product areas based on the degree to which individual areas have utilized
Other 1109 102

the services of the business units. The heading Other contains mainly
Industrial Operations 25957 1783.4

earnings linked to corporate functions including the Groups treasury

operations. The Groups real estate held in Volvo Group Real Estate is Customer Finance 942 167

reported under industrial operations and earnings are transferred back to Volvo Group 26899 18000

the business areas.

Reported segment information is based on the information used inter-

Depreciation and amortization 2011 2010

nally by the chief operating decision maker which in Volvo is the Volvo

Group Executive Committee. Trucks 8531 8721
.....

As from January 1 2012 the Volvo Group has a new organizational Construction Equipment 1903 1975

structure see pages 8-9 in this report. The business will continue to be Buses 472 464

divided in six segments under the new organization. The organizational
Vo.Ivo Penta 474 4.53

change may however result in some shifts between the segments. 6Volvo Aero 504 43 _

Other 464 710

Net sales 2011 2010
Industrial Operations 11419 11338

Trucks 200703 167305 Customer Finance 2572 2454

Construction Equipment 64987 53810 Volvo Group total 13992 13792

22289 20516Bases
which write -down 2j33

Volvo Penta 8859 8716
1 Ofw 10

Volvo Aero 6509 7708
_ ro-e$earchanddsvetýýerýt-_expectses_...ý.R

Other and eliminations 242 s$D_.__-__

Industrial Operations 303589 257375 Trucks 8627 9230

Customer Finance 8883 9031
Construction Equipment 2556 1972

Buses 1052 882

Reclassifications and eliminations 2104 165/

Volvo Group 310367 264749
Volvo Penta 692 670

Volvo Aero 275 156

The above sales figures include internal sales in the following amounts Other
74 60

Volvo Group total 13276 12970
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Income from Investments in associated Investments In associated companies 2011 2010

companies 2011 2010 Trucks 228 241

Trucks 10 8
Construction Equipment

- -

Buses 23 46
Construction Equipment

Volvo Penta
Buses 13 15

....__ ........ .. .....

Volvo Aero 1 1

Volvo Penta
-

Customer Finance 0 18

Volvo Aero 0 0

Other 432 378

Other 105 109

Industrial Operations 82 86 Volvo Group total 684 684

Customer Finance 0 0
Capital expenditures 2011 2010

Volvo Group total 82 86
Trucks 9138 7650

Total assets 2011 2010 Construction Equipment 2231 1555

Buses 367 343

Operating assets Industrial Operations Volvo Penta 332 331

126617 114169Trucks Volvo Aero 797 734

Construction Equipment
47742 43309 Other 1293 30

Buses 11905 11565 Industrial Operations 14159 10643

Volvo Penta 5026 4870
Customer Finance 6112 4600

Volvo Aero
- 9881

...- -- - Eliminations 52 38
Non-interest bearing assets held for sale 9344 136

Volvo Group total 20220 15205
Other 7831 21051

Total operating assets Industrial

Operations 208464 185981
Reporting by market

Interest bearing financial assets 42689 42645
__

Tax receivables 13632 1

.

3064
Net sales 2011 2010

Total assets in Customer Finance 99147 89246
Europe

120828 102947

Other and eliminations 10689 12929 North America 60560 47922

Volvo Group total 353244 318007 South America 35142 29013

1 Defined as total assets less interest-bearing financial assets and tax
Asia 73586 65487

receivables.
Other markets 20251 19380

Volvo Group total 310367 264749

Total shareholders equity and liabilities 2011 2010
of which

Operating liabilities Industrial Operations
Sweden 14108 12 463

Trucks 80031 69039 United States 46984 35752

-Construction Equipment 22494 18697 France 27061 24457

Buses 8213 7762

Volvo Penta 2575 2519
Total assets 2011 2010

Volvo Aero 3_517 Sweden 80584 73806
------ ---- -

Non interest-bearing liabilities held for sale 4710 135
9 Europe excluding Sweden 93411 86645

Other 1586 1259
North America 60948 53683

Total operating liabilities Industrial
South America 25521 23442

Operations 119609 102928
_---- ----

Asia 84913 72481

- 950
nancia fiabili ies

-- 23-61x5- --Other markets 7868

Tax liabilities 6515 4702 Volvo Group total 353244 318007

otatfxabifitiesirr--Customer

Finance--Otherand eliminations 10747 12305
Capital expenditures

2011 2010

Total liabilities 267563 243886
Sweden 5670 3323

.

Shareholders equity 85681 74121
Europe excluding Swede

_

n 7639 6733

Volvo Group total 353244 318007
North America 3 427 2039

478 292

1 Defined as total liabilities less shareholders equity
financial liabilities and tax

South America

liabilities.
Asia 2953 2707

Other markets 53 111

Volvo Group total 20220 15205
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INCOME

NOTE t

ACCOUNT POLICY
_ . uvat .zes... a _ . ... .w _. m ........Hýr . _x.a. . _ ýv ý m- m_.ý. ýs.xn

The Groups recognized net sales pertain mainly to revenues from sales of
In certain cases Volvo enters into a buy-back agreement or residual value

goods and services. Net sales are if the occasion arises reduced by the guarantee after Volvo has sold the product to an independent party or in

value of discounts granted and by returns.

combination with an undertaking from the customer to purchase a new

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when significant
risks

Volvo product in the event of a buy-back. In such cases there may be a

and rewards of ownership have been transferred to external parties nor-
question of judgement regarding whether or not significant

risks and

mally when the goods are delivered to the customer. However if the sale
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer. If it isdeter-of

goods is combined with a buy-back agreement or a residual value
mined that such an assessment was incorrect Volvos recognized revenue

guarantee the transaction is recognized as an operating lease transaction
and income for the period will decline and instead be distributed over

if significant risks in regard to the goods are retained in Volvo. Revenue is

several reporting periods. Refer to Note 21 Other provisions for adescrip-then
recognized over the period of the residual value commitment. If the tion of residual value risks.

residual value risk commitment is not significant and the sale was made to

an independent party or in combination with a commitment from the cus- Hard and soft products

tomer to buy a new Volvo product in connection to a buy-back option the The Volvo Groups product range is divided into hard and soft products. The

revenue is recognized at the time of sale and a provision is made to reflect sale of new vehicles machinery and engines comprise hard products. Soft

the estimated residual value risk refer to Note 21 Other provisions. products include all products and services apart from the sale of new and

Revenue from the sale of workshop services is recognized when the used vehicles machinery and engines and some extended productoffer-service
is provided. Interest income in conjunction with finance leasing or

ings that are sold to customers to provide the customer with an enhanced

instalment contracts is recognized during the underlying contract period. experience and greater satisfaction.

Revenue for maintenance contracts are recognized in line with thealloca-tion
of associated costs over the contract period. Refer to page 42 for more about the Volvo Groups services.

Interest income is recognized on a continuous basis and dividend

B Refer to Note 6 for information regarding net sales by product and market

income when the right to receive dividend is obtained.
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NOTE

OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES

Changes in provisions for doubtful accounts receivable and customer- Read more regarding
the companys management of credit risk and credit

financing receivables are recognized in Other operating income and reserves in Note 4.

expenses which during the period impacted the Group in an amount of

770 1326.

2011 2010

Gains/losses on divestment of Group companies
19 34

Write down of assets held for sale
54 65

Reversal of write down of assets held for sale
60

Change in allowances and write-offs for doubtful receivables customer financing 682 1438

Change in allowances and write-offs for doubtful receivables other 88 112

Damages and
litigations

227 57

Restructuring cost
94 11

Volvo profit sharing program

523 360

Other income and expenses
22 192

Total
1649 2023

OTHER FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES

NOTE

The market values of derivatives utilized to eliminate interest-rateexpo-sure
in the customer-financing portfolio are reported in Other financial

income and expenses. During the year these had a positive impact of 544

871 on earnings.

SEK M 2011 2010

Financial instruments at fair value

through profit or loss
544 871

Exchange rate gains and losses on financial

assets and liabilities
25 351

Financial income and expenses related

to taxes 18 20

Costs for Treasury function credit facilities etc 290 287

Total 297 213

1 Other financial income and expenses attributable to financial instruments

amounted to 569 520. For additional information regarding financial instruments

refer to Note 30 Financial instruments.

2 Exchange-rate gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities for 2010

includes an adverse effect of 274 for the devaluation in Venezuela.
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INCOME TAXES

140TE

Income taxes were distributed as follows

QO ACCOUNTING POLICY

2011 2010

Income tax for the period includes current and deferred taxes. Current

taxes are calculated on the basis of the tax regulations prevailing in the Current taxes relating to the period 5331 3668

countries in which the Parent Company and subsidiaries are active and Adjustment of current taxes for prior periods 76 180

generate taxable income. Deferred taxes originated or reversed during

Deferred taxes are recognized on differences that arise between the the period 1584 747

taxable value and recognized value of assets and liabilities as well as on Remeasurements of deferred tax assets 25 67

tax-loss carryforwards. However with regard to the measurement of Total income taxes 6814 4302
deferred tax assets that is the value of future tax reductions these items

are recognized provided that it is probable that the amounts can be uti-
Provisions have been made for estimated tax charges that may arise as a

lized against future taxable income. result of
prior

tax audits in the Volvo Group. Volvo evaluates tax processes

Deferred taxes on temporary differences on participations in subsidiar-
on a regular basis and makes provisions for possible outcome when it is

ies and associated companies are only recognized when it is probable
probable that Volvo will have to pay more taxes and when it is possible to

that the difference will be recovered in the near future. make a reasonably assessment of the possible outcome. Tax claims for

Tax laws in Sweden and certain other countries allow companies to
which no provision was deemed necessary were recognized as contingent

defer payment of taxes through allocations to untaxed reserves. These
liabilities.

items are treated as temporary differences in the consolidated balance Deferred taxes amounting to 1 93 have been recognized in other

sheet meaning that deferred tax
liability

and equity capital are separated. comprehensive income attributable to fair value of derivative instruments.

In the consolidated income statement an allocation to or withdrawal from At year-end 2011 the Group had unused tax-loss carryforwards

untaxed reserves is divided between deferred taxes and net income for
amounting to 22462 24869. These loss carryforwards expireaccord-the

year. ing to the table below

Due date 2011 2010

2012 40 64

77 502013scuRa o w 1
IVAATES

2014 180 190

Volvo recognizes valuation allowances for deferred tax assets where man- 2015 434 363

agement does not expect such assets to be realized based upon current
2016 2302 757

forecasts. In the event that actual results differ from these estimates or 34452017- 19429 23445

adjustments are made to future periods in these estimates changes in

Total 22462 24869

the valuation allowance may be required which could materially impact

the financial position and the income for the period. At December 31
The Swedish corporate income tax rate is 26.3%. The table below shows

2011 the valuation allowance amounted to 263 339 of the value of

the principal reasons for the difference between this rate and the Groups

deferred tax assets. Most of the reserve consists of unused loss carry-
tax rate based on income after financial items

forwards. Net of this valuation allowance deferred tax assets of 18552

20109 were recognized in the Groups balance sheet.

Volvo has
significant

tax-loss carryforwards that are related to coun-
2011% 2010

tries with long or indefinite periods of utilization mainly Sweden Japan
Swedish corporate income tax rate 26 26

and France. Volvo considers it to be most certain that the Group will be ---- -__.

able to generate sufficient income in the coming years to utilize the tax
Difference in tax rate in various countries 3 4

loss carryforwards.

Other non-taxable income 3 3
1 1

Other non-deductible expenses

Cur-rent4axe-s-ar4b-utabla-ta-pror-y- ars 0 1l

Remeasurement of deferred tax assets 0 1

27 28
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Specification of deferred tax assets
Tax-loss carryforwards are largely

attributable to countries with long or

and tax liabilities 2011 2010 indefinite periods of utilization mainly Sweden Japan and France. Of the

Deferred tax assets

total deferred tax assets of 6907 7327 attributable to tax-losscarry----
- - -- --- - -- -- --- --

forwards 2914 3665 pertains to Sweden with an indefinite period of

Unused tax-loss carryforwards 6907 7327
utilization.

Other unused tax credits 141 121
The cumulative amount of undistributed earnings in foreign subsidiaries

Intercompany profit
in inventories 780 711

which Volvo currently intends to indefinitely reinvest outside of Sweden

Allowance for inventory obsolescence 368 439 and upon which deferred income taxes have not been provided isapprox-Valuationallowance for doubtful imately SEK 62 billion 47 at year end. The main part of the undistributed

receivables 482 587
earnings is pertaining to countries where the dividends are not taxable.

Provisions for warranties 2067 1722

Provisions for residual value risks 288 306 Refer to Note 4 for information on how Volvo handles equity currency risk.

Provisions for post-employment

benefits 1188 2068

Provisions for restructuring measures 42 61

Adjustment to fair value during corpo-
MINORITY INTERESTS

rate acquisitions
0 12 NOTE

Market value of derivative instruments 28 45

Land 2204 2455

Other deductible temporary differences 4320 4594

Deferred tax assets before 13 ACCOUNTING POLICY

deduction for valuation allowance 18815 20448
Minority interests are interest attributable to non-controlling shareho -

Valuation allowance 263 339
ers. Minority interests are presented in the equity separately from the

Deferred tax assets after deduction equity of the owners of the parent IAS 27. At business combinations

for valuation allowance 18552 20109
minority interests should be valued either at fair value or at the minoritys

Netting of deferred tax assets/liabilities 5714 7799 proportionate share of the acquirees net assets IFRS 3. Minorityinter-Deferred
tax assets net 12838 12310

ests are assigned the minority shareholders portion of the equity of the

subsidiary. Changes in a parents ownership interest in a subsidiary that

Deferred tax liabilities do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.

Accelerated depreciation on property
IAS 27

plant and equipment 3811 4094

Accelerated depreciation on leasing

assets 1959 2111 Minority interests in income loss for the period and in shareholders

LIFO valuation of inventories 270 224 equity consisted mainly of the minority interests in Shandong Lingong

Capitalized product and software Construction Machinery Co Ltd 30%.

development 3721 3597

Adjustment to fair value at company

acquisitions 31 0

Untaxed reserves 92 97
- ..

Market value of derivative instruments 1 20

Other taxable temporary differences 1464 2178

Deferred tax liabilities 11349 12321

Netting of deferred tax assets/liabilities 5714 7799

Deferred tax liabilities net 5636 4522

Deferred tax assets/liabilities net 7203 7788

1 The deferred tax assets and liabilities above are partially recognized in the

balance sheet on a net basis after taking into account offsetting possibilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities have been measured at the tax rates that are

exeeted to_appiduring the period when the asset is realized or the liability
is - ------ - -------settledaccording to the tax fates and tax eegufatTbds that have been resolved or

announced at the balance-sheet date.
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

NOTE

negatively adjusted by one percentage point on an individual basis

ACCOUNTING POLICIES whereof no adjustment would have sufficient impact to require impairmentM
for the majority of the carrying amount.

Intangible assets Since the surplus values differ between the business areas they are to

Volvo applies the cost method of valuation for measurement of intangible a varying degree sensitive to changes in the assumptions described

assets. Borrowing costs are included in the cost of assets that necessar- above. Therefore Volvo continuously follows the performance of thebusi-ilytake more than 12 months to prepare for their intended use or sale ness areas whose overvalue is dependent on the fulfillment of Volvos

known as qualifying assets. assessments. Instability in the recovery of the market and
volatility

in

When participating in industrial projects in partnership with other com- interest and currency rates may lead to indications of a need forimpair-paniessuch as the aircraft engine projects in which Volvo Aero
partici-

ment. The most important factors for the future operations of Volvo are

pates Volvo pays an entrance fee to participate in certain cases. These described in the Volvo business area section as well as in the Riskman-entrancefees are capitalized as intangible assets. agement section.

Research and development expenses Depreciation amortization and impairment

Volvo applies IAS 38 Intangible Assets for the recognition of research Depreciation is made on a straight-line basis based on the cost of the

and development expenses. Pursuant to this standard expenditures for assets adjusted in appropriate cases by impairments and estimateduse-the
development of new products production systems and software are ful lives. Depreciation is reported in the respective function to which it

recognized as intangible assets if such expenditures with a high degree belongs. Impairment tests for depreciable assets are performed if there

of certainty will result in future financial benefits for the company. The are indications of impairment at the balance sheet date.

cost for such intangible assets is amortized over the estimated useful life

of the assets.
Depreciation/amortization periods

The rules require stringent criteria to be met for these development

expenditures to be recognized as assets. For example it must be possible Trademarks 20 years

to prove the technical functionality of a new product or software prior
to Distribution networks 10 years

its development being recognized as an asset. In normal cases this Product and software development 3 to8 years

means that expenditures are capitalized only during the industrialization
Aircraft engine projects 35 years

phase of a product development project. Other research and development

expenses are charged to income as incurred. The depreciation/amortization period
for aircraft engine projects was changed

Volvo has developed a process for conducting product development
from 20 to 35 years as of 2010.

projects named the Global Development Process GDP. The GDP has six

phases focused on separate parts of the project. Every phase starts and

ends with a reconciliation point known as a gate the criteria for which SOURCES CF EST
-L

Tt e JICErr4ITY

must be met for the projects decision-making committee to open the

gate and allow the project to progress to the next phase. During the Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets

industrialization phase the industrial system is prepared for series pro- Intangible assets other than goodwill are amortized and depreciated over

duction and the product is launched. their useful lives. Useful lives are based on estimates of the period in

which the assets will generate revenue. If at the date of the financial

Goodwill statements any indication exists that an intangible non-current asset has

Goodwill is recognized as an intangible asset with indefinite useful life. been impaired the recoverable amount of the asset is calculated. The

For non-depreciable assets such as goodwill impairment tests are per- recoverable amount is the higher of the assets net
selling price

and its

formed annually as well as if there are indications of impairments during value in use estimated with reference to managements projections of

the year by calculating the assets recovery value. If the calculated recov- future cash flows. If the recoverable amount of the asset is less than the

ery value is less than the carrying value the assets recovery value is

carrying amount an impairment loss is recognized and the carrying

impaired. amount of the asset is reduced to the recoverable amount. Determination

Volvos measurement model is based on a discounted cash-flow model of the recoverable amount is based upon managements projections of

with a forecast period of four to six years. asni-genera mg uni s iI en i
ed future cash flows which aye generally Based on-n-te af-busirTess-ýr

as Volvos business areas are measured. forecasts. While management believes that estimates of future cash flows

_G Godwilfassets-are-allocated -t -these--cash-generatin--units-an _the---are4easaable--different asst tnptions xegarriing .such_cas.h l.o_. s c_o_QId

basis of anticipated future utility. Measurements are based on manage- materially affect valuations. The need for impairment of goodwill andcer-ments
best estimation of the operations development. The basis for this tain other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives is determined on an

estimation is long-term forecasts of the markets growth 2 to 4% in rela- annual basis or more frequently if required through calculation of the

tion to the performance of Volvos operations. In the model Volvo is value of the asset. Such an impairment review will require management to

expected to maintain stable capital efficiency over time. Measurements determine the fair value of Volvos cash generating units on the basis of

are based on nominal values and utilize a general rate of inflation in line projected cash flows and internal business plans and forecasts. Surplus

with the European target. Volvo uses a discounting factor calculated to values differ between the business areas and they are to a varying

12% 12 before tax for 2011. degree sensitive to changes in assumptions and the businessenviron-In
2011 the value of Volvos operations exceeded the carrying amount ment. Volvo has performed similar impairment reviews since 2002. No

of goodwill for all business areas which is why no impairment was recog- need for impairment losses was required for the period 2002 until 2011.

nized. Volvo has also tested whether a surplus value would still existafter..
being subjected to reasonable potential changes to the assumptions
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Intangible assets acquisition costs Capitalized product

Entrance fees and software Other intangible Total intangible

Goodwill industrial programs development assets2 assets

Balance-sheet amount 2009 23827 3833 25148 6719 59527

Capital expenditures3
- 15 3255 54 3324

Sales/scrapping - 0 156 79 235
_. ........ ------ . ... ... _......_....._. -

Acquired and divested operations 70 0 0 0 70
Translation differences 847 49 400 138 1158

Reclassifications and others 26 1 4 57 88

Balance-sheet amount 2010 22936 3800 27851 6889 61476

Capital expenditures3 - 109 4238 122 4469

Sales/scrapping
- 484 657 323 1464

... ....__.. .... .......

Acquired and divested operations 967 0 4 0 963

Translation differences 272 1 431 32 672

Reclassified to assets held for sale 274 3199 1963 60 5496
.........Reclassificationand other 2 3 6 54 55

Balance-sheet amount 2011 23899 224 29902 6650 60675

Accumulated depreciation Capitalized product

and amortization
Entrance fees and software Other intangible Total intangible

Goodwill industrial programs development assets2 assets

Balance-sheet amount 2009 - 1762 13739 2398 17899
...... _.

Depreciation and amortizations - 59 2857 389 3305

Sales/scrapping 0 45 78 123

Acquired and divested operations
0 0 0 0

Translation differences - 1 285 84 370

Reclassifications and other - 0 5 46 51

Balance-sheet amount 2010 - 1820 16271 2671 20762

Depreciation and amortizations - 76 2788 383 3247

Sales/scrapping
- 265 406 322 993

Acquired and divested operations
- 0 0 0 0

Translation differences - 0 312 33 345

Reclassified to assets held for sale 1596 570 24 2190

Reclassifications and other - 2 1 2 3
Balance-sheet amount 2011 - 33 18396 2739 21168

Net value in balance sheet 20104 22936 1980 11580 4218 40714

Net value in balance sheet 20114 23899 191 11506 3911 39507

1 Includes on the date of IFRS adoption costs of 14184 and accumulated amortization of 3863.

2 Other intangible assets mainly consist of trademarks and distribution networks.

3 Includes
capitalized borrowing costs of 112 25.

4 Costs less accumulated depreciation amortization and impairments.

5 Of which impairments 74 7.

Goodwill per Business Area 2011 2010

Volvo Trucks 3975 3913

_....2230--- _Z2419___.

Trucks Asia 6269 6041

North American Trucks 1354 1334

Construction Equipment 7764 7806

Buses 1169 1174

Other business areas 1138 419

Total goodwill value 23899 22936
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TANGIBLE ASSETS

NOTE

lot
Depreciation/amortization periods

ACCOUNTING POUCIE

Type-specific tools 2 to 8 years

Tangible assets
Assets under operating leases 3 to 5 years

Volvo applies the cost method for measurement of tangible assets. Bor- Machinery
5 to 20 years--rowingcosts are included in the acquisition value of assets that necessar- Buildings and investment properties 25 to 50 years

ily take more than 12 months to get ready for their intended use or sale Land improvements
20 years

so called qualifying assets.

Investment properties are properties owned for the purpose ofobtain-rentalincome and/or appreciation in value. Investment properties are
ing

reported at cost. Information regarding the estimated fair value ofinvest-ment
properties is based on discounted cash flow projections. Theesti-mation

is performed by the Groups Real Estate business unit. The

required return is based on current property market conditions forcompa-rable
properties in comparable locations. Impairment of tangible assets

If at the date of the financial statements there is any indication that a

Depreciation amortization and impairment tangible asset has been impaired the recoverable amount of the asset

Property plant
and equipment are amortized and depreciated over their

should be estimated. The recoverable amount is the higher of the assets

useful lives. Useful lives are based on estimates of the period over which
net

selling price and its value in use estimated with reference tomanage-the
assets will generate revenue. ments projections of future cash flows. If the recoverable amount of the

Depreciation is applied on a straight-line
basis based on the cost of the

asset is less than the carrying amount an impairment loss is recognized

assets adjusted in appropriate cases by impairments and estimated use-
and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to the recoverable

ful lives. Depreciation is recognized in the respective function to which it

amount. Determination of the recoverable amount is based uponmanage-belongs.
Impairment tests for depreciable non-current assets are per- ments projections of future cash flows which are generally made by use

formed if there are indications of impairment at the balance-sheet date.
of internal business plans or forecasts. While management believes that

estimates of future cash flows are reasonable different assumptions

regarding such cash flows could materially affect valuations.

Tangible assets acquisition costs Land and
Assets

land Machinery Construction in Total investment under Total

improve- and equip- progress including property property operating tangible

Buildings ments ment3 advance payments plant and equipment leases assets

Balance-sheet amount 2009 31859 12641 68851 4578 117929 31993 149922

Capital expenditures 617 119 3806 2446 6988 4893 11881

Sales/scrapping 472 105 1730 7 2314 5459 7773

Acquired and divested operations 0 0 0 0 0 223 223

Translation differences 912 50 1308 148 2318 2843 5161

Reclassifications and other 466 138 895 1160 63 288 351

Balance-sheet amount 2010 31558 12567 70514 5709 120348 29095 149443

Capital expenditures
548 266 3947 3455 8216 7414 15630

Sales/scrapping 299 88 1969 0 2356 4786 7142

equtred-and divested opefatiens
36 10 64 --- 1t0 L503 1613

Translation differences 373 411 889 33 1640 122 1762

-ý_.. Reclassified-lo assets held fog ale 49ý_._ C415$Q . 57 ý__
5398 131 5529

Reclassifications and other 619 141 1897 2622 35 652 617

Balance-sheet amount 2011 32129 13258 70756 6452 122595 32565 155160
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Accumulated depreciation and Land and Construction in Assets

amortization
land Machinery progress includ- Total investment under Total

improve- and ing advance property property operating tangible

Buildings
ments equipment3 payments plant and equipment leases assets

Balance-sheet amount 2009 14780 1042 46827 - 62649 11605 74254

Depreciation and amortization4 1207 98 4772 - 6077 4410 10487

Sales/scrapping 224 22 1549 - 1795 3082 4877

Acquired and divested operations 0 0 0 - 0 55 55
Translation differences 192 20 691 - 903 1142 2045

Reclassifications and other 4 32 114 - 78 2288 2210

Balance-sheet amount 2010 15567 1066 49473 - 66106 9448 75554

Depreciation and amortization4 1191 77 4856 6124 4621
1.1

Sales/scrapping 260 9 1647 - 1916 2407 4323

Acquired and divested operations 0 0 18 - 18 0 18
...... .. ......

.... ...

1177 20 1197
Translation differences 338 20 819 -

Reclassified to assets held for sale 496 23 2980 - 3499 94 3593

Reclassifications and other 24 4 101 81 2945 2864

Balance-sheet amount 2011 16316 1135 50604 - 68055 8643 76698

Net value in balance sheet 20102.5 15991 11501 21041 5709 54242 19647 73889

Net value in balance sheet 20112.5 15813 12123 20152 6452 54540 23922 78462

1 Includes capitalized borrowing costs of 83 67.

2 Acquisition costs less accumulated depreciation amortization and write-downs.

3 Machinery and equipment pertains mainly to production related assets.

4 Of which write-down 28 26.

5 Of which investment property 883 948 and property plant
and equipment 53657 153294.

Reclassifications and other mainly consist of assets under operating relate to construction in progress which are reclassified to the respective

leases related to legal
sales transactions where revenue is deferred and category within property plant and equipment.

accounted for as operating lease revenue. Assets classified as inventory

will when the operating lease model is applied for revenue recognition be Investment properties

reclassified from inventory to assets under operating leases when the The acquisition cost of the investment properties was 1625 1692 at

legal sales transaction occurs. If the product is returned after the lease year-end. Capital expenditures during 2011 amounted to 39 11.Accu-periodthere will again be a reclassification from assets under operating mulated depreciation was 742 744 at year-end of which 53 55 during

leases to inventory.
When a buy-back agreement has expired but the 2011. The estimated fair value of investment properties was SEK 2.5 billion

related product is not returned the cost and the accumulated deprecia- 1.8 at year-end. 91% of the investment properties were leased out during

tion are reversed in reclassification and other within the line item assets the year 89. Net income for the year was affected by 235 223 in rental

under operating leases. Most reclassifications within tangible assets income from investment properties and 53 63 in direct costs.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION 2011

LEASING

NOTE

M1
Volvo as a lessee

ACCOUNTING POLICIES At December 31 2011 future rental payments minimum leasing fees

related to non-cancellable leases amounted to 3799 3916.

Volvo as the lessor
Future rental payments are distributed as follows

Leasing contracts are defined in two categories operational and financial

leases depending on the contracts financial implications. Operational Finance Operating

leasing contracts are recognized as non-current assets in Assets under
leases leases

operational leases. Income from operational leasing is recognized equally
2012 459 834

distributed over the leasing period. Straight-line depreciation is applied to

these assets in accordance with the terms of the undertaking and the
2013-2016 360 1660

deprecation amount is adjusted to correspond to the estimated realizable
2017 or later

63 423

value when the undertaking expires. Assessed impairments are charged
Total 882 2917

to the income statement. The products assessed realizable value atexpi-ration
of the undertaking is reviewed continuously on an individual basis.

Rental expenses amounted to.

Financial leasing agreements are recognized as either non-current or

current receivables in the customer finance operations. Payments from 2011 2010

financial leasing contracts are distributed between interest income and

amortization of the receivable in the customer finance operations.
Finance leases

Contingent rents 12 8
Volvo as the lessee Operating leases

Volvo evaluates leasing contracts in accordance with IAS 17 Leases. In Contingent rents 20 20

those cases in which risks and rewards that are related to ownership are Rental payments
1035 923

substantially held by Volvo so-called financial leases Volvo recognizes Sublease payments
5 6

the asset and related obligation in the balance sheet at the lower of the
Total 1062 945

leased assets fair value or the present value of minimum lease payments.

Future leasing fee commitments are recognized as obligations. The lease
Carrying amount of assets subject to financial leases

asset is depreciated in accordance with Volvos policy for the respective

non-current asset. The lease payments when made are allocated between

amortization and interest expenses. If the leasing contract is considered
2011 2010

to be a so-called operational lease lease payments are charged to
profit Costs

or loss over the lease contract period. B
_

uildi n gs
92 124

Land and land improvements
53 69

Volvo as the lessor
Machinery

and e ui ment 1901 1863

At December 31 2011 future rental income from non-cancellable finan-
Assets under operating lease 194 338

cial and operational leases minimum leasing fees amounted to 50704 Total 2240 2394

45530. Future rental income is distributed as follows
Accumulated depreciation

Buildings 30 41
Finance Operating

leases leases
Land and land improvements

Machinery and equipment 1231 1174

2012 12562 4111 Assets under operating lease 68 81

2013-20.16
24227 8447 Total 1329 1296

2017 or later
604 753

Total 37393 13311
Carrying amount in the balance sheet

Attowarrce-f6runcoflectibte future-reryta
Buildings

62 83

income 414 Land and land improvements
53 69

Machinery and equipment
670 689

rentJ_Ln Qme 3100
eratrý_ý lease -ýý_-ý _ý___

__ý7____._
P

Assets underoP 9
resent value o f future rental income related

to non-cancellable leases 33879 Total 911 1098

1 Refer to assets leased by Volvo as financial lease which are later leased to

customers as operating lease.
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MOTE

CUSTOMER-FINANCING RECEIVABLES

Non-current and current receivables recognized in Volvos customer Current customer-financing receivables

financing operations.

Allocation of current

customer-financingreceivables 2011 2010

Installment credits 11079 11988

Credit loss reserves Financial leasing 11425 10860

The establishment of credit loss reserves on customer-financing receivables Dealer financing
13820 12598

is dependent on estimates including assumptions regarding past dues repos- Other receivables 1757 1217

session rates and the recovery rate on the underlying collaterals. At December
Total 38081 36663

31 2011 the total credit loss reserves in the Customer Finance segment

amounted to 1.33 % 1.69 of the total credit portfolio
in the segment.

The effective interest rate for current customer-financing receivables was

Refer to Note 4 for a description of the credit risk and Note 30 for further
6.44% as per December 31 2011.

information regarding customer-financing receivables.

Credit risk in the customer-financing operations

Non-current customer-financing receivables Customer-financing receivables 2011 2010

Customer-financing receivables gross 79849 74013

Allocation of non-current customer- Valuation allowance for doubtful

financing receivables 2011 2010
customer-financing receivables 1150 1325

17457 15673
Whereof specific reserve 374 530

Installment credits
.. __._ .

62
..

Whereof other reserve
0

leasing
22454 19

Financial

776 795

Other receivables 707
-

732
- --

Customer-financing receivables net 78699 72688

Total 40618 36025

The effective interest rate for non-current customer-financing receivables

was 6.98 % as per December 31 2011.

Non-current customer-financing

receivables maturities

I

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 or later

17408 13.815 6181 2512 702

Customer financing receivables
2011

2010

days/ MSEK payments due
Not due 1-30 31-90 90 Total Not due 1-30 31-90 90 Total

Overdue amount
- 391 230 648 1269 - 490 405 805 17O0

Valuation allowance for doubtful customer
30 S30

fihancing receivables gg -_1.7

Customer financing receivables

net book value 99 328 190 476 895 91 434 331 497 1170

The table above presents overdue payments within the customer financing operations in relation to specific reserves. It is not unusual for a receivable

to be settled a couple of days after its due date which impacts the age interval of one to 30 days.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION 2011

Change of valuation allowances for doubt-
The total contractual amount to which the overdue payments pertain are

ful customer-financing receivables 2011 2010 presented in the table below. In order to provide for occurred but not yet

Balance sheet December 31 preceding year 1325 1513
identified customer-financing receivables overdue there are additional

reserves of 776 795. The remaining exposure is secured by liens on the
New valuation allowance charged to income 910 1586

Reversal of valuation allowance charged to

purchased equipment and in certain circumstances other credit

income 250 207
enhancements such as personal guarantees credit insurance liens on

- -- - -

Utilization of val...._uati..... on allowancence related to

- other property owned by the borrower etc

actual losses 821 1451
Collateral taken in possession that meet the recognition criteria

amounted to 412 594 at December 31 2011.

Translation differences 14 116

Balance sheet December 31 1150 1325

Customer financing receivables total
2011 2010

exposure Not due 1-30 31-90 90 Total Not due 1-30 31-90 90 Total

Customer financing receivables 70085 6828 1971 965 79849 63153 6425 2369 2066 74013

Concentration of credit risk

Geographic market percentage of

Customer concentration customer-financing portfolio %.
I

The ten largest customers in Customer Finance account for 5.6 % 5.8
P-1 Europe 45.9%

of the total asset
portfolio.

The rest of the
portfolio

is pertinent to a large
North America 269%

number of customers. This way the credit risk is spread across both many

markets and among many customers. Asia 12.3%

6jJ Other markets. 14.9%

Concentration by geographical market

The adjacent table shows the concentration of the customer-financing
f

portfolio
divided into geographical markets.

Read more about Volvos overriding description of all Group credit risks

in Note 4 Financial-risk management.

Read more about Volvo Financial Services trend during the year on

page 66.

RECEIVABLES

NOTE

Non-current receivables

you oE tl a-3-1sit 3r1_4x i NE-1 rAN T

2011 2010

Credit loss reserves

The establishment of credit loss provisions for account receivables is Other interest-bearing loans to external parties 98
20.411

entered as soon as it is probable that a credit loss has incurred. A credit Other interest-bearing financial receivables 596 562

loss has incurrent when there has been an event that has triggered the Other financial receivables 2131 1741

customels_n_abilitto pay.
At December 31 2011 the total credit loss OTtter receivables 2184 1676

reserves for account receivables amounted to 2.57% 2.87 of total
Total 5009 4184

account receivables. Refer to Note 4 for a description of the credit risk.

_.Yofnanycurrent-receivabfes- - -.
-

5-28 pertains a- inapcia--Gns rumen

Refer to Notes 4 and 30 for financial instruments as well as goals and policies

governing financial risk and financial instruments.
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Current receivables Credit risks in accounts receivable

2011 2010 Change of valuation allowances fordoubt-fulaccounts receivable 2011 2010
Loans to external parties 1 11

Other interest-bearing financial receivables 666 331 Balance sheet December 31 preceding year 721 1301

Accounts receivable 27699 24433
New valuation allowance charged to income 175 187

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 2761 3043 Reversal of valuation allowance charged

VAT receivables 3387 2662 to income 126 609
Other financial receivables 1746 1715 Utilization of valuation allowance related

to actual losses 100 86Other receivables 5932 4436

Total after deduction of valuation Acquired and divested operations 33 1
allowances for doubtful accounts Translation differences 5 44
receivable 42191 36633 Reclassifications etc. 24 28

Balance sheet December 31 731 721
1 Of current receivables 30133 26490 pertains to financial instruments. Refer

to Notes 4 and 30 for financial instruments and goals and policies in financial Refer to Note 4 for more information regarding Volvos financial risks

risk management.

Refer to Note 15 for more information regarding credit risk in customer

financing receivables.

Age analysis of portfolio value 2011 2010

- Accounts receivable
Not Due 1-30 31-90 90 Total Not Due 1-30 31-90 90 Total

Accounts receivable gross 26152 1102 465 711 28430 23324 799 391 640 25154
Provision for doubtful accounts receivable 155 30 57 490 731 205 26 26 464 721
Accounts receivable net 25997 1073 408 221 27699 23119 773 365 176 24433

INVENTORIES

NOTE I if

2011 2010

MACCOUNTING POLICY

Finished products 28985 24572

Inventories Production materials etc. 15614 15265

Inventories are recognized at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Total 44599 39837
The cost is established using the first-in first-out method FIFO and is

based on the standard cost method including costs for all direct manu- Inventories recognized as cost of sold products during the period

facturing expenses and the attributable share of capacity and other amounted to 219946 170723.
manufacturing-related costs. The standard costs are tested

regularly
and

adjustments are made based on current conditions. Costs for research
Increase decrease In allowance for

and development selling administration and financial expenses are not
inventory obsolescence 2011 2010

included. Net realizable value is calculated as the
selling price less costs

attributable to the sale. Balance sheet December 31 preceding year 3382 4101

Increase in allowance for inventory

obsolescence charged to income 213 79
Scrapping 64439j
Translation differences 23 191

Reclassifications etc.. 25-10--Inventoryobsolescence
Balance sheet December 31 2624 3382

Fair value is adjusted by the estimated value depletion of outdated articles

over-stocking physical damages inventory lead-times handling and other

selling costs. If the fair value is lower than cost a valuation allowance is

established for inventory obsolescence. The total inventory value net of

inventory obsolescence allowance was SEK 44599 39837 billion at

December 31 2011.
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